
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD 

20 September 2019 
 
To:  The Town Mayor and all Members of Leighton-Linslade Town Council 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Leighton-Linslade Town Council to 

be held on Monday, 30 September 2019 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council 

Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 

1HD. 

 
M Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

 
Prayers will be said at 1920 hours 

AGENDA 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  

 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 

the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure). 

 

3.   TOWN MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

4.   LEADERS' ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

5.   QUESTIONS  

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 30 September 2019 
 

 

 

 (a) To receive questions and statements from members of the public as 
provided for in Standing Order Nos.3 (f) and 3 (g)   

 
(b) To receive questions from Councillors as provided for in Standing Order 

No.27, provided three clear days’ notice of the question has been given to 
the person to whom it is addressed. 

 

6.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 12) 

 

 To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Town Council 
meetings held on 24 June 2019 and 11 September 2019 (attached). 
 

7.   TOWN CENTRE  

 

 By invitation, Stephen Mooring and Sam Caldbeck of Central Bedfordshire 
Council will attend the meeting to present information in respect of the town 
centre. 
 

8.   COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 13 - 70) 

 

 To receive the Minutes of Committee meetings (attached) and to consider any 
recommendations contained therein: 
 
(a) Planning & Transport Committee           3 July 2019 
(b) Planning & Transport Committee     24 July 2019 
(c) Policy & Finance Committee      29 July 2019 
(d) Planning & Transport Committee     21 August 2019 
(e) Partnership Committee      5 September 2019 
(f) Grounds & Environmental Srvcs Cttee  9 September 2019 
(g) Policy & Finance Committee     16 September 2019 
 
 Recommendation at minute reference 52/PF - see attached 
 Recommendation at minute reference 55/PF - see agenda item 16 
 Recommendation at minute reference 56/PF - see attached draft minutes  
 
(h) Planning & Transport Committee     18 September 2019   
 

9.   END OF YEAR ACCOUNTS 2018-2019 (Pages 71 - 78) 

 

 (a) To receive a report from the Auditor, including issues arising, and 
produce an appropriate action plan (attached). 

 
(b) To approve and accept the Auditor’s Certificate and Opinion on the 

Annual Return. 
 

10.   JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE (Pages 79 - 88) 

 

 To consider approving draft revised Terms of Reference for the Partnership 
Committee, as recommended by the Committee at its meeting held on 11 April 



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 30 September 2019 
 

 

 

2019 (Central Bedfordshire report to General Purposes Committee and revised 
Terms of Reference attached).   
 

11.   MOTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS (Pages 89 - 94) 

 

 (a) To consider a Motion submitted by Councillors S Owen and A Gray in 
respect of traffic congestion (attached). 

 
(b) To consider a Motion submitted by Councillors S Owen and A Gray in 

respect of health services (attached).  
 

12.   REPORT FROM CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCILLORS (Pages 95 - 

114) 

 

 To receive a verbal update from Central Bedfordshire Councillors on matters 
affecting the parish (if applicable).  
(The latest CBC update report to Partnership Committee is attached for 
information) 
 

13.   APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES  

 

 To consider any changes to appointments and to receive verbal reports from 
Councillors, where applicable.   
 

14.   APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES  

 

 To consider any changes to appointments, if applicable. 
 

15.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

 

 The Council may consider it appropriate to consider the following resolution 
should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to the public 
interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960, the 
public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of the business 
about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information. The public and press to withdraw from the meeting during 
consideration of detailed discussion regarding: honours and awards 
 

16.   HONOURS AND AWARDS (Pages 115 - 116) 

 

 To consider a Motion submitted by Councillors J M Freeman, S Jones and R 
Goodchild (attached) in respect of honours and awards.   
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 16 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING 
 

11 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:   Councillors   A Dodwell  
  T Morris 
  C Palmer 
  D Bowater (Chair) 
  J M Freeman 
  F Kharawala 
  S Jones 
  R Berry 
  V Harvey 
  S Hemmings 
  R Goodchild 
  S Owen 
  D Scott 
         

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
 S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central 

Services) 
 Ian Haynes, (Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services) 
      
Members of the Public:    3 
 

33 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies had been received from Councillors A Gray, P Snelling, K Cursons 
and C Chambers.  

 
34  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Members were asked to declare any interests, and the nature of those interests, 
that they might have in any of the items under consideration at the meeting. 

 
 Councillor S Jones declared a personal interest in having an acquaintance 
employed by one of the tendering companies. Councillor V Harvey declared a 
personal interest in being a member of South Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth, 
who were campaigning for local reduction in single use plastics.  

 
35 QUESTIONS 
 
 A member of the public and representative of South Bedfordshire Friends of the 

Earth presented the Council with a petition of nearly 500 signatures, asking the 
Town Council to support a “plastic free Leighton Buzzard” through the reduction 
of single-use plastics. The Council was asked to accept the petition and to work 
with the group towards their goal.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Council Meeting                                                        11 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  17 

 
 It was suggested that by Councils declaring a climate emergency, this was 

helping to instil public confidence and take the issue seriously.  
 
 A member of the public and student at a local upper school spoke regarding the 

work she was undertaking at her school and others, to raise awareness of 
environmental issues, reduce use of plastics and increase recycling.  

 
 Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting and it was noted 

that the Town Council had already endorsed a set of environmental ambitions 
which it was working towards.  

 
36 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
 RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 

1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of 
the business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw from the meeting 
during consideration of detailed discussion regarding the Town Council’s 
waste management contract. 

 
 Members of the public left the meeting at 1939 hours.  
 
37 PRESENTATIONS 
 
 By invitation, two representatives of “Company A” joined the meeting to 

give a presentation and provide further information on the tender 
submitted for the Council’s waste management contract. The company’s 
ethos and operating methods were explained and a number of questions 
were asked and answered. Zero waste would go to landfill and it was 
anticipated that the amount of waste recycled would increase to over 30% 
within six months and over 40% within twelve months. All processing 
would take place within the UK. 

 
 Representatives of “Company A” left the meeting at 2010 hours. 
 
 By invitation, two representatives of “Company B” joined the meeting to 

give a presentation and provide further information on the tender 
submitted for the Council’s waste management contract. The company’s 
ethos and operating methods were explained and a number of questions 
were asked and answered. Zero waste would go to landfill and processing 
would take place outside the UK.  

 
 Representatives of “Company B” left the meeting at 2029 hours.  
 
38 REPORT AND EVALUATION 
 
 Council was advised of the tender process which had been undertaken. 

Following six expressions of interest, four organisations had been invited 

Page 2



Council Meeting                                                        11 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  18 

to tender and three had submitted prices. One had been unable to attend 
to give a presentation.  

 
 Council received a report evaluating the information received. It was noted 

that the price for Company A had been based on a variant bid submitted. 
Company B did not submit a variant bid.  

 
39 SCORING 
 
 Council evaluated the presentations given and these were added to the 

existing evaluation report for a final assessment. 
 
40 AWARD OF CONTRACT 

 
 It was proposed and seconded to award the contract to Company A. On being 
put to the vote, the motion was carried (10 in favour, 2 against, 1 abstention).  

 
 RESOLVED to award the Town Council’s waste and recycling contract to 
Company A (Veolia).  

 
  
The meeting closed 2045 hours.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair                       30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
                             

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 

Page 9 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING 
 

24 JUNE 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:   Councillors   A Dodwell  
  T Morris 
  C Palmer 
  G Perham 
  D Bowater (Chair) 
  K Cursons 
  J M Freeman 
  F Kharawala 
  S Jones 
  C Chambers 
  R Berry 
  V Harvey 
  J Silverstone 
  S Hemmings 
  R Goodchild 
  S Owen 
  P Snelling 
  A Gray 
         

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
 S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central 

Services) 
 Ian Haynes, (Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services) 
 M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
     
Members of the Public:    3 
 

19 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies had been received from Councillor J D’Este-Hoare. 
 

20  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Members were asked to declare any interests, and the nature of those interests, 
that they might have in any of the items under consideration at the meeting. 

 
 Councillor K Cursons declared a personal interest as a member of All Saints 
Church and Councillor V Harvey as a member of South Bedfordshire Friends of 
the Earth. 

 
Councillors Berry, Dodwell, Bowater, Harvey, Snelling and Perham declared an 
interest in item 11 Central Bedfordshire Consultation as elected Members of 
Central Bedfordshire Council. 

Page 5



Council Meeting                                                                      24 JUNE 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  10 

 
21 TOWN MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Councillor D Bowater advised he had attended various events since becoming 
Mayor, from breakfast meetings to Open Gardens, with the highlight being the 
opening of a Sports Hall at Oak Bank School.  This facility would give the 
students excellent opportunities for participation in sporting activities and 
events. 

 
22 FAIRTRADE  
 

Council received and considered a report for formal renewal of Town Council 
support for the Fairtrade principles and the town’s Fairtrade Town status.  Three 
members of Fairtrade Leighton-Linslade gave a presentation informing 
Members that UK Fair Trade was now the biggest in the world with a local 
business, The Coffee House, now receiving Fair Trade recognition to supply 
coffee to businesses and retail customers.   Thanks were given to Leighton-
Linslade Town Council for its commitment and support promoting Fair Trade to 
renew their status for another two years. 
 
RESOLVED to:  
 
(a) note the report 
(b) renew the Town Council’s support of the Fairtrade status for the town. 

23 LEADERS’ ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

Councillor S Jones spoke to Members asking them to think about any ideas, 
projects or schemes they would like considered in preparation for next year’s 
budget setting cycle.  Any suggestions should be submitted by 20th July, before 
the next Policy & Finance Committee on 29th July 2019.  One suggestion made 
concerned the Land South of the High Street and the possible use for a 
Community Cultural Centre for Art and Music.  An update on the plans for the 
Land South of the High Street would come back to Council as Central 
Bedfordshire Officers were carrying out soft market testing for retail and 
commercial groups at present. 
 
A question was raised asking if the option of borrowing for a project would be 
considered.  It was confirmed that borrowing would not be the first option 
considered but if appropriate it would be considered.   
 
Another question was raised regarding the content of the Committee Work 
Plans and Objectives and whether these should these be more detailed, 
showing how projects were progressing and managed.   

 
24 QUESTIONS 
 

(a) There were no questions from members of the public 
 

(b) No questions had been received from Councillors  

Page 6



Council Meeting                                                                      24 JUNE 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  11 

 
25           MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
 Council received the draft minutes of the previous Council meeting held on 20 

May 2019. 
 
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the Council meeting held on 20 May 2019 

be approved as a correct record and were signed accordingly. 
  
26 COMMITTEE MINUTES  
 
 Council received the draft minutes of Committee meetings held since the 

Council Annual Meeting on 20 May 2019. 
 
 RESOLVED to receive the minutes of the following meetings: 
 

(a) Planning & Transport Committee 22 May 2019 

Minute reference 008/P Transport Matters – it was confirmed that resurfacing 
work would be taking place at Vimy Road roundabout and an order had been 
raised with Central Bedfordshire Council Lighting to remove the leaning lamp 
column. 
 
(b) Cultural & Economic Services Committee 3 June 2019 

Minute reference 7/CE Community Events Update – attention was drawn to the 
change in date of the May Day Holiday 2020 from Monday 4 May to Friday 8 
May for VE day celebrations. 

 
Minute reference 13/CE: Council gave consideration to the recommendation 
made by Cultural & Economic Services Committee on 3 June 2019 in respect 
of Town Centre Wi-Fi. 
 
RESOLVED   

(i) to enter into a delivery contract with supplier ‘B’ for town centre WiFi 
provision and footfall insight provision for three years at a cost of 
up to £38,000 

(ii) that officers liaise with Central Bedfordshire Council to draw down 
s106 monies reflective of Council’s endorsed recommendation. 

 
(c) Partnership Committee 6 June 2019 

Minute reference 12/LLP Standing Items, Neighbourhood Plan - a question was 
raised regarding the use of an Independent Planning Consultant to review the 
possible merit of creation of a Neighbourhood Plan.   
 
Minute reference 13/LLP Committee Objectives and Work plan – a request was 
made to invite Education officers to the next meeting to discuss school plans for 
the new developments in Leighton-Linslade. 
 
 

Page 7



Council Meeting                                                                      24 JUNE 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  12 

(d) Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 10 June 2019 

Minute reference 6/GE Allotments – it was confirmed clearing of the allotments 
had begun and should be completed by mid-July enabling allocation to 
commence from the waiting list. 
 
Minute reference 7/GE ‘Friends’ Groups- a concern was raised concerning 
issues raised regarding volunteers involved with In-Bloom to provide 
reassurance their groups would not be affected by additional ‘Friends’ Groups. 
 
(e) Planning & Transport Committee 12 June 2019 

Minute reference 016/P Information Items – Council were advised that 
Councillor C Palmer had attended the Central Bedfordshire draft Local Plan 
hearing on Thursday 20 June in respect of land north of Soulbury Road and his 
comments had been noted. 
 
(f) Policy & Finance Committee 17 June 2019 

A correction was made to the spelling of a surname in the Present Councillors 
list. 
 
Minute reference 5/PF Minutes of Previous Meeting – Minute reference 467/PF 
– it was confirmed an update on the Central Bedfordshire Boundary Review 
process would be given at the next Policy and Finance Meeting on 29 July 2019. 
 
Minute reference 5/PF Minutes of Previous Meeting – Minute reference 468/PF 
an update would be given at the next meeting on 29 July on the Central 
Bedfordshire Council project to move from analogue to digital cameras. 
 
Minute reference 5/PF Minutes of Previous Meeting – Minute reference 469/PF. 
A question was raised regarding whether suggestions made would be circulated 
to Councillors. 
 
Minute reference 6/PF Sub Committees – it was suggested that Central 
Bedfordshire Council be invited to attend a meeting to discuss the Community 
Emergency Plan before a final version created.  It was confirmed the Plan was 
a generic plan for the Central Bedfordshire Area and local Councils were 
encouraged to create their own more detailed plan for their own parishes. 
 
Minute reference 20/PF Policies: Council received draft policies for approval 
regarding Market Policies and Procedures and the Tree Management Policy. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
 (i) to endorse the decision made by the Market Sub-Committee in   

respects of the Critical Incident Policy. 
(ii) to endorse the decision made by the Market Sub-Committee in 

respects of the Trader Disciplinary Policy. 
 

Page 8



Council Meeting                                                                      24 JUNE 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  13 

Minute reference 20/PF: Council gave consideration to the recommendation 
made by Policy & Finance Committee on 17 June 2019 to re-endorse the Tree 
Management Policy for the period 2019-2022.  It was confirmed that the 
grammatical errors had been addressed within the Tree Policy as requested at 
the last Grounds & Environmental Committee meeting. 
 
RESOLVED that the Tree Management Policy be re-endorsed for the 
period 2019-2022. 

 
27 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018-2019 AND ACCOUNTING 

STATEMENTS 2018-2019  
 

Minute reference 11/PF and 12/PF Council received the Annual Governance 
Statement and Accounting Statements for 2018-2019 and following 
recommendation made by the Policy and Finance Committee on 17 June 2019, 
gave consideration to the approval of these documents. 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

(a) to approve and sign section 1 – Annual Governance Statement 2018-
2019 

(b) to approve and sign section 2 – Accounting Statements 2018-2019 

 
28 TOWN COUNCIL OBJECTIVES  
 

      The Council received and considered a report in respect of the creation of a   
Town Council Environmental Ambition Statement to encourage best practice 
within town council operations and the wider parish.  The document would be a 
‘live’ document and come back to Policy and Finance for review and comment. 

 
 Council agreed outside traders at events should be encouraged to use 

recyclable containers and to add this to enquiry forms.  Sustainability should be 
included as part of the tender or application process for all events or contracts. 

 
 A suggestion was made to install drinking water in our parks using £50,000 from 

earmarked reserves.  Members were all in agreement with this being added to 
the Town Council list of future objectives and would be subject to further scoping 
work. 

 
RESOLVED to:  
 
(a) note the report. 
(b) endorse the set of ambitions and in doing so, embed them within Town 

Council best practice. 
(c) endorse the inclusion of installing of drinking water fountains in some 

of the Town Council owned parks within the list of future objectives 
for the Five-Year Plan 2019-2024.  

 
 

Page 9



Council Meeting                                                                      24 JUNE 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  14 

29 CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE CONSULTATION  
 

 Council received and considered a consultation document detailing the future of 
the Westlands Older Persons’ Home and the options proposed.  All councillors 
were encouraged to respond individually to the consultation. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the information and for councillors to submit individual 

responses to the consultation. 
 

 30 REPORT FROM CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCILLORS  
 

Councillor R Berry advised Council that Dog Waste bins had now been installed 
around Astral Lake Park. 
 
Councillor A Dodwell advised that works to Leighton Road on the canal bridge 
would commence at the end of July and repairs in Grovebury Road would start 
on the 4 July. 
 
Council were informed about a Public Consultation SEND which opened on 22 
May and would close on 3 July and another on Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping opened 24 June to 15 September, 2019. 
 
Councillor B Spurr advised Council Central Bedfordshire Council would be 
repairing the road in the High Street from 17 July and the quality of the work 
would be overseen by a Central Bedfordshire Officer. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the information. 

          
  31 APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES  

 
Council were informed of amendments to memberships of outside bodies as 
follows – 

 
National Association of   Councillor T Morris was replaced by   
Local Councils        Councillor K Cursons 

    
LB First     Vacancy filled by Councillor R Goodchild  

 
Sports Council     Councillor R Goodchild was replaced by  

     Councillor S Hemming 
           
Rushmere Parishes Group   Vacancy filled by Councillor V Harvey 
 
RESOLVED to note the information. 
         

  32 APPOINTMENT TO COMMITTEES  
 
     There were no changes required to appointments to Committees  

  
 

Page 10



Council Meeting                                                                      24 JUNE 2019 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  15 

The meeting closed 2108 hours.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 24 JUNE 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair                       30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
                             

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



   

Page 10 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 3 JULY 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    J Silverstone 
    F Kharawala 
    G Perham  
    K Cursons 
    A Gray 
    C Palmer (substituting for D Bowater) 
                

          Also in attendance:    Mark Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
     

  Members of the public:     0 
 
  

17/P       APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors D Scott and D 
Bowater (substituted by Councillor C Palmer).  
 

18/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
No declarations were made and no dispensations had been requested.  

 
19/P PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

  
 There were no questions or statements from members of the public. 
 
20/P MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 12 June  2019. 
 
Minute reference 16/P: Cllr C Palmer confirmed he had attended and spoken at 
the Central Bedfordshire Local Plan examination and that he, along with one 
other resident, had spoken in opposition to the inclusion of land north of Soulbury 
Road, Linslade. A representative of the Campaign to Protect Rural England had 
also spoken in opposition to development on Green Belt land.  
 
Thanks were expressed to Cllr Palmer for attending and speaking on behalf of 
the Town Council.  

 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



Planning and Transport Committee  3 JULY 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  11 

 
 Minute reference 14/P: the Committee queried why the officer’s reports on the 
two planning applications to which the Committee had previously recommended 
objection had not referenced the Town Council’s comments, and whether any 
feedback was ever received back from the planning authority when the decision 
made was contrary to Town Council recommendations. This would be followed 
up and reported back to Committee.  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 12 June 2019 be approved as a correct record and were 
signed accordingly. 

 
21/P  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
The Committee reviewed applications received up until 28 June 2019. 
 
The Committee discussed application reference CB/19/01660 (1 Jupiter Drive). 
The loss of the garage was noted and it was recognised that the property in 
question was on the corner of a busy junction and on a very heavily parked road. 
The configuration of the two proposed parking spaces was considered to be 
impractical. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/01660 (1 Jupiter Drive) on the 
grounds of inadequate off street car parking which would not meet Central 
Bedfordshire parking standards, particularly given the location of the 
property.  
 
The Committee discussed application reference CB/19/01586 (3A Church Road, 
Linslade). Proposals would result in the loss of the equivalent of one parking 
space and the driveway was shared. It was noted that there was very limited on 
street car parking in the vicinity as this was only permitted on one side of the 
road.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/01586 (3A Church Road, 
Linslade) but the Town Council would express concerns regarding the part 
conversion of the garage parking within the boundary of the site, given the 
shortage of on-street car parking in the immediate vicinity.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following planning applications: 
 
1. CB/19/01199  83 DRAKES AVENUE 
2. CB/19/01591  13 DUKES RIDE 
3. CB/19/01491  D COMPTON COMMERCIAL, GROVEBURY 

ROAD 
4. CB/19/01541/VOC ALDI FOODSTORE, VIMY ROAD 
5. CB/19/01633  2 DELAMERE GARDENS, LINSLADE 
6. CB/19/01488  20 BRIDGE STREET 
7. CB/19/01504  36 ORCHARD DRIVE, LINSLADE 
8. CB/19/01659  14 HEATH COURT 
 

Page 14



Planning and Transport Committee  3 JULY 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  12 

RESOLVED to note application reference CB/19/01406/RM (land south of 
former Model Farm and west of Hill Farm) and to express the hope that the 
provision of adequate infrastructure and service provision would be 
delivered in a timely fashion.  
 

RESOLVED to note the following works to trees: 

1. CB/TRE/199/00228 114 HEATH ROAD 
2. CB/TRE/19/00241 TALL PINES, PLANTATION ROAD 
3. CB/TRE/19/00240 LONG RIDGE, PLANTATION ROAD 
4. CB/TRE/19/00242 1 HEATHWOOD CLOSE 

 

22/P       TRANSPORT MATTERS 

 

 The Committee received correspondence from a local resident regarding lack of 

enforcement of parking restrictions on Mentmore Road due to the fading of line 

markings.  

 

 RESOLVED to write to Central Bedfordshire Council to request that 

appropriate markings be made clear to that parking restrictions could be 

enforced.  

 

 The Committee was asked to consider potential options for the implementation 

of a Traffic Regulation Order at the Mentmore Road Park car park. Options were 

discussed including a maximum stay of three hours on weekdays with no return 

within two hours, plus no overnight parking at any time. Permits would be issued 

for regular users likely to exceed the three hour limit. This would be discussed 

further with the Head of Grounds and the Chair of the Grounds and 

Environmental Services Committee.  

 

23/P        INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
  No information items had been received.  

 
 

The meeting closed at 2016 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 3 JULY 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair                         24 JULY 2019 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



   

Page 13 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 24 JULY 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   A Dodwell – in the Chair 
    T Morris (substituting for J Silverstone) 
    F Kharawala 
    G Perham  
    K Cursons 
    A Gray 
    D Bowater (arrived 1945) 
    D Scott 
                

          Also in attendance:    Mark Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
    Cllr V Harvey 
    Cllr P Snelling (part meeting)  
    Laura Grimason, Gillings Planning 
    Max Paddick, Frontier Estates   
     

  Members of the public:     2 
 
  

24/P       APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors J M Freeman and J 
Silverstone (substituted by Councillor T Morris).  
 

25/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
No declarations were made and no dispensations had been requested.  

 
26/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

  
 There were no questions or statements from members of the public. 
 
27/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 3 July  2019. 
 
Minute reference 22/P (Transport Matters): the Town Clerk confirmed he had 
written to the highways authority following the previous meeting regarding 
parking restrictions at the Mentmore Road Park and Memorial Gardens car park 
and timings for public consultation were awaited.  
 

Page 17



Planning and Transport Committee  24 JULY 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  14 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 3 July 2019 be approved as a correct record and were signed 
accordingly. 

 
28/P  TRANSPORT MATTERS  
 

 By invitation, Mark MacDonald, custodian for area 2 of Highways at Central 
Bedfordshire Council, attended the meeting to provide some brief information 
regarding the planned annual maintenance programme and structural 
maintenance for highways and public rights of way. The preference was for all 
highways related faults/issues to be reported via the online portal, as this would 
assign a reference number and ensure that faults were investigated within five 
working days. All faults were risk assessed to determine severity and priority.  
 
The Committee was advised of current works to address uneven levels of paving 
in the High Street and the trial of a product called “extremeprint”, which would 
initially look like black asphalt but then be “painted” in the herringbone style of 
the existing paving. It was anticipated that works to cycle stands and bollards 
would also take place.  
 
The Committee was advised that all reported highways defects were risk 
assessed to determine potential risk and then allocated a priority. Due to limited 
resources and budget, works were often limited to patching or “making good” to 
extend the life of the roads. Any larger resurfacing works were subject to 
availability of capital funding.  
 
A query was raised about the condition of pathways and the lack of lighting in 
some Town Council owned parks. Footpaths and cycle ways which were public 
rights of way were inspected at least once a year and often more frequently.   
  
A point was made about ensuring roads as well as cycle ways were safe for use 
by cyclists, particularly given the need to encourage sustainable forms of 
transport and the policy by Central Bedfordshire Council of promoting cycling.  
 
It was noted that in some locations, issues needed to be addressed by utility 
companies rather than by the highways authority.  
 
Mr MacDonald was thanked for attending the meeting and invited to attend again 
at a future date to give a more detailed presentation on highways matters.  

  

29/P       PRE-APPLICATION PRESENTATION 
 
 By invitation, representatives from Gillings Planning and Frontier Estates gave a 

brief pre-application presentation on proposals to build a care facility with 
approximately 71 ensuite bedrooms on land between the garden centre site and 
the new housing development off Hockliffe Road. The facility would also include 
a nurses’ station, salon, cafeteria and would provide for nursing and dementia 
care. The operator was likely to be a not-for-profit organisation already operating 
in Bedfordshire and the residents would be a mix of privately funded and local 
authority funded. Statistical work undertaken indicated a shortage of some 120 
beds locally.  

 
 

Page 18



Planning and Transport Committee  24 JULY 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  15 

 
 Proposals were yet to be finalised but it was hoped that work could start within a 

year and the facility to be open in two years. 
 
 The Committee thanked the representatives for their presentation and would 

discuss the planning application when it came forward for formal consideration.  
 

30/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
The Committee reviewed applications received up until 19 July 2019. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/01773 (39 Centauri Close) on the 
following grounds: 
- That enclosure of amenity land would be contrary to the original design 

layout for the site and detrimental to the visual amenity of the locality 
- Committee endorsed the comments made by the Tree Officer in 

resepcts of the likely impact the proposal would have on the trees, the 
subject of Tree Preservation Orders.  

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/01877 (8 Chelsea Green, 
Linslade), subject to parking standards being met and a condition being 
added to planning consent such that the annexe only be used as ancillary 
to the main dwelling house. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/01641 (88-90 Clarence 
Road), subject to a satisfactory noise impact assessment. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/01567 (land at Old Linslade Road) 
on the following grounds: 
- That the land was Green Belt and in its opinion the application had failed 

to demonstrate the existence of very special circumstances sufficient 
to override established plan policy. 

- Concerns regarding visibility of vehicular access and highways safety, 
given the location on a difficult stretch of road with already limited 
visibility over the canal and river bridges, on a road used increasingly 
as a “cut through” by drivers. 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/01737 (52 Orion Way) on the 
following grounds: 
- That the proposed intensity of use (up to 4 clients up to 4 times/day 

including weekends and Bank Holidays) represented an overly 
commercial venture in a residential area and would be likely to cause 
issues with car parking and noise disturbance in an already congested 
residential area.  

 

Page 19



Planning and Transport Committee  24 JULY 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  16 

RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/02040 (40 St Andrews Street) on 
the following grounds: 
- That the creation of an additional bedroom would then cause the 

property to fail to meet car parking standards in an already very 
congested area (as evidenced by the recently submitted resident 
petition discussed at the Central Bedfordshire Traffic Management 
meeting held on 16 July 2019) 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/01765 (12 Leedon Furlong) on the 
following grounds: 
- Overdevelopment of the site 
- Lack of car parking 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following planning applications: 
 
1.  CB/19/01935  201-203 VANDYKE ROAD 
2. CB/19/01804   ST MARY’S CHURCH, OLD LINSLADE 
      ROAD 
3. CB/19/01786   1 DUNNOCK DRIVE 
4. CB/19/01774   10 LEEDON FURLONG 
5. CB/19/01703   76 CARINA DRIVE 
6. CB/19/01951/VOC  69A HOCKLIFFE STREET 
7. CB/19/01754ADV  83 HOCKLIFFE STREET 
8. CB/19/01535   89 GOLDEN RIDDY, LINSLADE 
9. CB/19/01792   UNIT WATERBORNE WALK 

RESOLVED to note the following works to trees 

1. CB/TRE/19/00267  323 BIDEFORD GREEN, LINSLADE 
2. CB/TRE/19/00250  20 FAULKNERS WAY, LINSLADE 
3. CB/TRE/19/00258  2 ROBINSWOOD CLOSE 

 
 

31/P   NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN SCOPING PLAN 

The Committee received and considered a report regarding the seeking of a 
scoping opinion in respect of the potential merits or otherwise of creating a policy 
document to help inform future land uses on land known as south of the High 
Street, Leighton Buzzard.  
 
RECOMMENDED to the Policy and Finance Committee that a maximum of 
£3,000 (Budget code 920/9035 – Professional Fees) be drawn down and ring 
fenced for the purposes of obtaining a planning opinion in respects of the 
potential merits in the creation of a document to help guide future 
development on land known as south of the High Street, Leighton Buzzard. 

 
32/P      INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

 The Committee received correspondence from a local resident regarding car 
parking and safety of children and pedestrians on Cedars Way, Linslade. This was 
a recognised longstanding issue and it was agreed that a more strategic approach 

Page 20



Planning and Transport Committee  24 JULY 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  17 

to car parking issues was required. It was noted that Central Bedfordshire Council 
had recently undertaken a car parking study of the town and the results were 
awaited. In addition to the concerns regarding safety in the proximity to schools, it 
was agreed that the climate change agenda called for increased walking and 
cycling to be encouraged.  

 
 RESOLVED to write to Central Bedfordshire Council to ask that Cedars Way 

be included in any recommendations for measures to address car parking 
issues arising from the car parking study, and for the School Travel Plans 
to be reviewed given not only these issues but the acknowledged climate 
emergency.  

 
 The Committee received correspondence from Central Bedfordshire Council 

regarding street naming on land at Grovebury Farm Cottages. Whilst the 
Committee was disappointed that its wish to continue the theme of Roman street 
names was not acceptable to the developer, it was agreed that Grovebury Farm 
Close would be an acceptable alternative.  

 
 RESOLVED to advise Central Bedfordshire Council that Grovebury Farm 

Close would be acceptable to the Town Council.  

 
 

The meeting closed at 2058 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 24 JULY 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair                         21 AUGUST 2019 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



   

Page 18 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 21 AUGUST 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    J Silverstone 
    F Kharawala 
    A Gray 
    D Bowater 
    D Scott 
                

          Also in attendance:    Mark Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
    Cllr R Berry 
     

  Members of the public:     7 
 
  

33/P       APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor K Cursons.  
 

34/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
No declarations were made and no dispensations had been requested.  
 
For the record, Cllr Berry advised members of the public that he was not actively 
participating in the meeting to avoid any potential conflict of interest in being a 
member of the Central Bedfordshire Development Management Committee.  

 
35/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

  
 A member of the public addressed the Committee regarding concerns about the 

recent works undertaken to the paving on the High Street. It was felt that the use 
of the new Street Print product rather than replacing with similar block paving 
appeared “aesthetically terrible” and was inappropriate in a historic High Street 
and conservation area. Concerns were also raised regarding impermeability and 
whether the surfacing would be hard-wearing enough, particularly in respect of 
the use of market stalls.  Specific questions asked were why existing paving was 
being ripped up to be replaced by a poor imitation, whether the impermeability 
issue had been checked to avoid potential excessive water run off into drains 
and rivers, and how this could be stopped from going ahead. 

 
 A resident and representative of the Leighton Buzzard Society spoke to express 

support for the concerns raised by the first speaker and to urge Central 
Bedfordshire Council to restore the High Street to its original condition.  

 

Page 23



Planning and Transport Committee  21 August 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  19 

 Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting and it was 
reiterated that only the Highways Authority would be able to answer these 
questions.  

 
36/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 24 July  2019. 
 

 Minute reference 28/P (Highways Matters): the Committee was reminded of the 
information given at the previous meeting by the local area custordian regarding 
the use of Street Print in the High Street. It was proposed and seconded that 
authority be delegated to the Town Clerk to write to Central Bedfordshire Council 
on behalf of the Town Council to express the concerns raised by both elected 
Members and residents.  

 
 RESOLVED to delegate authority to the Town Clerk to write to Central 

Bedfordshire Council on behalf of the Town Council, to express the 
concerns about Street Print and new bollards raised by both elected 
Members and residents.   

 
 Four members of the public left the meeting at 1945 hours.  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 24 July 2019 be approved as a correct record and were signed 
accordingly. 

 
37/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
The Committee reviewed applications received up until 16 August 2019. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/1901970 (13 Nelson Road), 
subject to adequate car parking provision in line with Central Bedfordshire 
parking standards.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/02055 (19 Middleton 
Way), subject to adequate car parking provision in line with Central 
Bedfordshire parking standards.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following planning applications: 
 
1. CB/19/01997  2A TAYLORS RIDE 
2. CB/19/01950  LAND ADJACENT 26 WOODMAN CLOSE 
3. CB/19/01985  13 CHELSEA GREEN, LINSLADE 
4. CB/19/02119  13 STANBRIDGE ROAD TERRACE 
5. CB/19/02113  58 EAST STREET 
6. CB/19/01913  9A WATERBOURNE WALK 
7. CB/19/02038  16 ALBANY ROAD 
8. CB/19/02177  33 MENTMORE GARDENS, LINSLADE 
9. CB/19/02157  10 LAUREL MEWS 

Page 24



Planning and Transport Committee  21 August 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  20 

10. CB/19/10982  SUTHERLANDS SCHOOL, LINSLADE 
11. CB/19/02116  CASTLE COMMERCE, OLD ROAD, LINSLADE 
 
RESOLVED to note application reference CB/19/02335/RM (Clipstone Park).  

RESOLVED to note the following works to trees: 

1. CB/TRE/19/00275 319 HEATH ROAD 
2. CB/TRE/19/00281 30 HEATH COURT 
3. CB/TRE/19/00255 2 HEATHWOOD CLOSE 
4. CB/TRE/19/00315 5 THE HEATH 
5. CB/TRE/19/00290 SILVERDALE, TAYLORS RIDE 
6. CB/TRE/19/00304 12 THE HEATH 
7. CB/TRE/1900300 2A BEAUDESERT 

 
38/P  TRANSPORT MATTERS  
 
 The Committee was advised of an email received from Cllr C Palmer regarding 

outstanding Highways related matters.  
 
 The Committee was reminded that in the previous year, the Town Council had 

requested consideration be given to measures in the vicinity of Greenleas 
School, Derwent Road, to address speeding and parking issues. It was agreed 
to ask Central Bedfordshire Council for an update on this.  

 
 The Committee was advised of resurfacing works which had been scheduled for 

The Paddocks/Lime Grove and which had now been delayed until October. It 
appeared that there had been a lack of communication with residents about the 
delay, which was understood to be due to a “supply chain issue”. It was 
understood that the communication with residents was the responsibility of the 
contractor undertaking the works.  

 
 The Committee was advised of a change in the bus service route which meant 

that the bus stop at Soulbury Road was no longer in use, resulting in residents 
of Durrell Close having a longer walk in order to catch the bus at the railway 
station, or having to use a different service taking longer to get into town. It 
appeared that the change had been made without any consultation with regular 
passengers. It was agreed to raise this with Arriva by letter and/or at the quarterly 
Exemplar transport meeting.  

 
39/P  INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
  No information items had been received.  

 
The meeting closed at 2023 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 21 AUGUST 2019. 
 
 
 
Chair                 18 SEPTEMBER 2019 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 

Page 8 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

29 JULY 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present Councillors:  S Jones (Chair) 
C Palmer 
G Perham 
S Hemmings (substituting for A Dodwell) 
R Berry 
J M Freeman 
D Bowater 
D Scott 
R Goodchild 
S Owen 
T Morris 

      
Also in attendance:  M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
     S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
     Services) 
     Cllr V Harvey 
     Cllr K Cursons 
   
Members of the public:  0 

 
23/PF      APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A Dodwell, substituted 

by Councillor S Hemmings.  
 
24/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  
 
Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 
(Payments) as the list of payments included a payment relating to Leighton-
Linslade in Bloom, of which his wife was a committee member. This interest 
would continue to apply at future committee meetings until further notice. 
 

25/PF    QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
 There were no questions from the public. 

 
  26/PF    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 17 June 2019 for consideration. No questions were asked.  

Page 27



Policy & Finance                   29 JULY 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

9 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 17 June 2019  be approved as a correct record and 
were signed accordingly.  

 
  27/PF      SUB COMMITTEES 

 
The Committee received the draft minutes of the Personnel Sub-Committee 
held on the 1 July 2019. 
 
Minute reference 7/PR – a question was asked regarding whether outcomes 
from the Town Clerk’s appraisal would come back to the Committee. Whilst 
all employee appraisal content was confidential, overall outcomes would be 
reported back to the Personnel Sub-Committee.  
 
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Personnel Sub-
Committee held on 1 July 2019. 
 
The Committee received the draft minutes of the Community Safety Sub 
Committee held on 15 July 2019. 
 
Discussion took place regarding the potential national increase in the number 
of police officers and whether this represented an opportunity to seek 
additional policing locally. It was agreed to discuss this further at the next 
meeting with a view to potentially making a recommendation to Council.  
 
The Committee was asked to consider a request to use up to £500 from the 
Community Safety budget for a youth engagement project to take place over 
the summer holidays. 
 
RESOLVED to endorse the use of up to £500 from the Community 
Safety budget for a youth engagement project to take place over the 
summer holidays.   
 
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Community Safety Sub 
Committee held on 15 July 2019. 

 
 28/PF    COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received and considered the Work Plan and Objectives for 
2019-2020.  It was noted that the Information Technology item planned for 
September had been brought forward at the recommendation of the 
Council’s I.T. support provider. The Volunteer Strategy item scheduled for 
September was more likely to be brought forward at the November meeting.  
   
RESOLVED to note the Committee Work Plan and Objectives for  
2019-2020.  

 
 
 

Page 28



Policy & Finance                   29 JULY 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

10 

29/PF   JULY PAYMENTS  
 

  The Committee received a schedule of payments which had previously been    
approved for payment by the Town Clerk and countersigned by two account 
signatories.  Written questions received prior to the meeting had been 
answered. There were no anomalies or matters of concern to draw to the 
attention of the Committee.     

       
The schedule for July  dated 13 June  2019, included BACS payments 
amounting to £166,253.38 (page numbers 2574-2589) and cheque 
payments amounting to £7,832.73 (cheque numbers 17401-17420), 
including White House petty cash amounting to £43.78,  Astral Park £172.00 
and TACTIC £26.30 

 
The monthly salaries listing for July 2019 amounting to £98,686.36 gross 
was received.  A cash book report for July 2019, including details of all direct 
debit payments, was also received. 

 
  RESOLVED to note the schedule of accounts for July 2019. 

 
30/PF   FIRST QUARTER BUDGET MONITORING REPORT  

 
             The Committee received a budget monitoring report for April to June 2019.  

A number of minor questions were asked and answered. The Committee 
was advised that a couple of adjustments had been made within the 
Democratic Services budget to reflect a more accurate figure. 

 
 In respect of the spending on General Grants, the Committee was asked to 

consider a request from grant recipient Mencap. Correspondence from 
Mencap advised that their original intention to hold a 50th anniversary concert 
would sadly not now go ahead, but permission was sought to use the grant 
funding to support a number of smaller events. No objections were raised by 
the Committee.  

 
 RESOLVED to note the report and to support the use of the General 

Grant awarded to Mencap for a number of smaller 50th anniversary 
events rather than one large event. 

 
 31/PF    INSURANCE CLAIMS  
 

 In accordance with its terms of reference, the Committee received a report 
outlining insurance claims for the period July 2018 – June 2019.  

 
 A query was asked regarding the adverse weather policy for the street 

market. This had been discussed with the new insurer and it was anticipated 
that a draft policy would be reviewed at the Market Sub-Committee on 29 
August.  

 
 RESOLVED to note the report regarding the Town Council insurance  

Page 29



Policy & Finance                   29 JULY 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

11 

  Policy and claims for 2018-19. 
 
 32/PF    ASSET REGISTER  

 
The Committee received the asset register for consideration, including land 
and buildings, infrastructure assets, community assets and equipment. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report.  
   

 33/PF    COMMITTEE PAPERS  
 
 The Committee received a report outlining an overview of the first year of 

“paperless” committee meetings. In addition to significant cost savings on 
paper, envelopes, printing and postage, the change had saved in excess of 
22,000 sheets of paper and allowed for faster, more effective working, 
resulting in the team having been able to absorb additional workload and for 
resulting salary savings to be put towards the creation of a new post.  

 
 Councillors were encouraged to contact officers with any queries or issues 

with accessing documents electronically and reminded that paper copies 
were still available on request.  

 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 
 

   34/PF     HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE  
   
The Committee received a report regarding recommended replacement of 
ageing computer hardware and the resultant move to monthly software 
licensing which would have an ongoing impact on the revenue budget. 
Having considered a number of options, the Committee agreed it would be 
most effective to replace all 22 computers at the same time. It was suggested 
that given the expected lifespan of five years, an extended warranty be 
sought to cover this period.  
 
A question was asked about any likely additional costs such as staff training. 
Any training requirements would be met from the training budget.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) To replace 22 computers on a comparable basis to existing 

machines but with the addition of Solid State Drives (costs to be 
met from the Future Projects earmarked reserve, the Tactic 
earmarked reserve and the remainder from General Reserves). 

(ii) To accept a move to monthly software licensing for Microsoft 
Office products and to note that the revenue budget for IT in 
2019-2020 would be exceeded as a result. 

(iii) To approve a change in software licensing for Councillors from 
Microsoft Outlook only to Microsoft Office 365 Business 
Essentials at an additional cost of £0.80 per user per month. 

Page 30



Policy & Finance                   29 JULY 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

12 

(iv) To increase the IT revenue budget from 2020-2021 onwards by 
£2,500 per annum to meet the monthly Microsoft Office licensing 
costs for employees and councillors.  

 
 35/PF   BUDGET PROCESS 2020-2021  
 

The Committee received a report outlining the proposed timescale for the 
2020-2021 budget setting process. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the proposed timetable for the 2020-2021 budget 

setting process. 
 

   36/PF   BANDSTAND SIGNAGE  
 

The Committee received and considered a report regarding branded signage 
for the bandstand. 

 
RESOLVED:  

 
(a) To note the report. 

(b) That a maximum of £1,500 be drawn down from 9024/950 for the 

purposes of creating and installing 2 x Town Council branded signs for 

the Parson’s Close bandstand. 

(c) To endorse the following wording for the signs:  ‘Band concerts 

promoted by Leighton-Linslade Town Council’. 

 
  37/PF  CONSULTANCY FEES  
 

The Committee considered a recommendation made by the Planning and 
Transport Committee on 24 July 2019 in respect of consultancy fees for a 
scoping opinion to be carried out on the potential merits or otherwise of 
creating a Town Council led policy document to guide future development in 
the town.  
 
The Committee expressed support for taking independent advice in this 
respect and asked that the consultant advise the Council on the 
appropriateness, likely costs and scope of a Town Council led policy 
document. It was anticipated that the consultant would present findings to the 
September meeting of the Committee.  It was noted that Central Bedfordshire 
Council representatives had been invited to present information to the 
September Council meeting in respect of the recent town centre survey and 
in respect of land south of the High Street.  
 
RESOLVED that a maximum of £3,000 be drawn down from the 
Professional Fees earmarked reserve (920/9035) for the purposes of 
obtaining a planning opinion in respect of the potential merits of creation 
of a document to help guide future development within the parish.  
 

Page 31



Policy & Finance                   29 JULY 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

13 

38/PF     EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
  

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding 
the following items: Internal Auditor, Honours and Awards, Boundary 
Review and Town Council Objectives. 

 
 39/PF    INTERNAL AUDITOR 

 
 The Committee received and considered a report detailing tenders received 

for renewal of the Internal Auditor for the Town Council. 
 

RESOLVED that Auditing Solutions Ltd be awarded the contract to carry 
out the internal audit function on behalf of the Town Council for a five-
year period from 2019-2020. 

 
40/PF   HONOURS AND AWARDS   

 
 The Committee received and considered a report regarding a change in 

legislation and to consider future options in respect of Honours and Awards. 
 

RESOLVED to request that officers undertake further work on the 
options afforded by legislation and to bring a further report back to the 
September meeting of the Committee.  

 
41/PF BOUNDARY REVIEW 

 

The Committee received and considered a report in respects of the need to 

make formal representation to Central Bedfordshire Council to carry out a 

Community Governance Review. 

 

The Committee expressed frustration with the process and the longstanding 

need to address the situation regarding the eastern urban extension. It was 

felt that despite the advice received from the Boundary Commission, it would 

be more logical to address parish boundaries first, before reviewing ward 

boundaries. 

 

It was suggested that the Council use the opportunity afforded by the local 

authority electoral ward review to put forward its views on requirements for 

parish boundaries and was further suggested that advice be sought from 

relevant sector bodies on how to take the matter forward. It was further 

suggested that a representative from Central Bedfordshire Council be invited 

to a future meeting.  

 

Page 32



Policy & Finance                   29 JULY 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

14 

RESOLVED that delegated powers be afforded to the Town Clerk in order 

that a formal representation be made to Central Bedfordshire Council in 

respects of the carrying out of a community governance boundary 

review. 

 
42/PF TOWN COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 

 
The Committee received and considered a report to prioritise projects to be 
included within the Five Year Plan for the period 2019-2024. Discussion took 
place regarding the 17 proposed objectives and a number of additional 
potential projects were agreed to be added. It was noted that the Five Year 
Plan was an iterative document and would continue to be added to and revised 
throughout its lifespan. Furthermore, that projects not directly deliverable by 
the Town Council would continue to be the subject of a “partnership project 
list”, to be raised in the appropriate forums and the subject of ongoing 
lobbying. 
 
It was agreed that further scoping work would be done on the 21 proposed 
projects in terms of financing and resourcing requirements and overall 
feasibility. Objectives would be given further consideration at the next 
Committee meeting and recommendations put forward to Council.  
 
The Committee was also urged to consider not only new projects but the 
ongoing maintenance and improvements of existing assets. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report and consider future objectives further at 
the next Committee meeting, at which a recommendation would be made 
to Council in respect of projects that the Committee would wish to 
prioritise for inclusion within the Five Year Plan for 2019-2024.  

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 2136 hours.    
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 JULY 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Chair         16 SEPTEMBER 2019. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



      
  

Page 6 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE PARTNERSHIP COMMITTEE 

 
THURSDAY 5 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 

 

Present: Councillors  C Palmer – LLTC 
  T Morris – LLTC  (Chair) 
  S Hemmings  - LLTC 
  A Dodwell – CBC  
  V Harvey – CBC 
  B Spurr  – CBC  
  R Berry - CBC 
   

    
Also in attendance Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

  V Cannon (LLTC Head of Cultural & Economic 
Services) 

 S Hughes (Community Engagement Manager, 
CBC) 

 T Humber (Community Forum Group) 
 M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
 G Borelli (Chair, LB First) 
 B Chandler (LB Connect) 
  
  

           Members of the Public: 5 
 
 

15/LLP APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor E Wallace and Councillor 
S Owen. 
 

   16/LLP     DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.   

 
17/LLP QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
 A question was raised by a representative from Freddie Sunshine Stop 

regarding the possibility of their organisation applying for a community grant to 
fund activities or equipment for children with disabilities/additional needs in the 
town.  It was also explained that Leighton Town football club have a vision for 
their club to be more disability friendly within the town and asked if Leighton 
Linslade Town Council would be able to help with their vision.    It was suggested 
that there may be potential to use Section 106 developer contributions to 
facilitate this vision. 

 

Page 35



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 5 SEPTEMBER 2019      
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                           
 

                                                                                                                        Page   7 

 A further question was raised regarding the resurfacing work carried out in the 
High Street and whether it had been overseen.  There appeared to be certain 
parts where the paint was already peeling off and some sections where the 
paving had been sunken and it did not appear to have been rectified. It was 
confirmed that work had not yet been signed off and that this had been a pilot 
trial.  The new surface would be re-examined in the Spring after being completed 
for at least six months, the winter period being considered a good testing period. 
It would then be decided whether this type of surface had the durability required 
for High Street use.  Highways would be attending the next meeting of the 
Partnership Committee on 28 November to offer a response to Community 
Forum consultation event findings and Highway’s approach to future Town 
Centre management of refurbishments and maintenance issues.   

 
18/LLP MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Partnership Committee 
meeting held on 6 June 2019.  
 
Item ref 5/LLP Questions from the Public – the question raised concerned 
whether additional members could be co-opted onto the Committee under the 
present Terms of Reference.  It was confirmed that under the existing Terms of 
Reference members could not be co-opted to sit around the table.   However, 
under the new Terms of Reference additional members could be co-opted by 
invitation onto the Committee. 
 
Item ref 6/LLP – Minutes of the previous meeting – a question was raised 
regarding the wording of item ref 274/LLP free parking on a Wednesday at 
Leighton Linslade.  Free parking was already available at Duncombe Drive car 
park so minutes should read “expanding free parking on a Wednesday in 
Leighton-Linslade”. 
 
Item ref 6/LLP – 275/LLP Standing Items – a question was raised regarding the 
relocation of the Christmas Tree in the High Street.  It was confirmed this had 
been approved and would be implemented this year. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Partnership Committee meeting held 
on 6 June 2019 be approved as a correct record and be signed 
accordingly.   

 
19/LLP  CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE UPDATE  
 

The Committee received an update report from Central Bedfordshire Council on 
matters relating to the parish, including information in respect of social care, 
health and housing, crime figures, antisocial behaviour, business rates, car 
parking, transport matters, community services, waste, schools, public health 
and services for young people.  It was confirmed that officers from Central 
Bedfordshire Council would be attending the next meeting on 28 November to 
discuss Land South of the High Street, Highways matters including the 
refurbishment of the High Street. 
 

Page 36



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 5 SEPTEMBER 2019      
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                           
 

                                                                                                                        Page   8 

A question raised earlier in the meeting regarding enquiries for industrial 
premises was addressed and it was stated that a new warehouse building had 
been completed on the A505 crossing and a number of enquiries received.  
 
A Ward Councillor Grant Scheme and Community Assets Grant scheme had 
been approved by Executive and should be up and running by October 2019 
where Councillors would have access to £2,000 to spend on projects in the area. 
Up to £25,000 grant would be available under the Community Asset Grant 
scheme. 

 
The Committee thanked Sarah Hughes, Community Engagement Officer CBC, 
for her full and clear report. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report.  

 
 

  20/LLP TOWN CENTRE ENHANCEMENTS (S106)  
 
 Sarah Hughes, Central Bedfordshire Council, gave a verbal presentation on how 

to access information on the S106 Developer Contributions secured for Leighton 
Linslade and how the spreadsheet worked. 

 
 Questions were raised regarding the relocation of the Fire Station and whether 

this would be happening to fit in with High Street Funding improvements.  Also 
the relocation of the Christmas tree and would it affect the fun fair in the High 
Street. 

 
 It was confirmed that signage improvements were planned for this to Ryland 

Mews, High Street Mews, and/or Bell Alley, following liaison with landlords.  
 
 RESOLVED to note the information. 

  
21/LLP  COMMUNITY FORUM UPDATE  

 

The Committee received a verbal update from Tricia Humber, Community Forum 

Steering Group and whether a revised framework could be used and the work of 

the Forum be closely aligned with the work plan of the Committee. 

 

After discussion if was agreed that a topic on “What Services Young People 

Need” should be led by the Community Forum and explored in greater depth.   

 

 RESOLVED  

 

(a) To endorse the Community Forum Operational Framework 

(b) To continue to allocate £500 per annum and to secure unused funds 

into an earmarked reserves fund to facilitate work activity.  

  

 

22/LLP BUSINESS SUPPORT UPDATES  

 

Page 37



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 5 SEPTEMBER 2019      
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                           
 

                                                                                                                        Page   9 

 The Committee received a brief update from LB Connect, members of which 

were reporting good business, and from LB First. 

 

 Bob Chandler, LB Connect, informed the Committee the group now met at The 

Dukes in Heath and Reach and were looking to support new Charities – either 

Carers in Bedfordshire or Florence Nightingale Hospice. 

 

 Gennaro Borelli, LB First, gave an update on Independents Day in the High 

Street and thanked Leighton-Linslade Town Council for their support.  The 

Christmas Festival weekend planning had now begun and nominations would 

be sought for a local person to switch on the Christmas Lights. 

 

 RESOLVED to note the information. 

 

 23/LLP    STANDING ITEMS  
 

(a) Enabling Delivery in L-L  -  it was confirmed that two officers from Central 
Bedfordshire Council would be attending the next Partnership Meeting on 28 
November to talk about Land South of the High Street 

(b) Market Town Regeneration Fund  - Architectural Lighting discussion still 
on-going with The Swan, Lloyds, All Saints Church and Pizza Express 

(c) Taxis - no update at present, should be attending the next meeting in 
November 2019. 

 
RESOLVED to note the information. 

 

24/LLP COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  
 

 The Committee received and gave consideration to the objectives and work plan 
for the municipal year 2019-2020.   Adoption of the new Terms of Reference to 
be added to the November meeting with Homelessness and Foodbanks to be 
moved to February 2020.  Also the meeting scheduled for the 16 April would 
possibly be rescheduled to 9 April 2020. 

 
RESOLVED to note the information. 

 
25/LLP  BUDGET REPORT  
 
 The Committee received a brief report regarding the current year budget to date.  
 The members agreed that any unused money be put into earmarked reserves 

to assist with future Community Forum activities as needed. 
 
 RESOLVED  to note the report. 
 

 
  

 
  
The meeting closed at 2113 hours.  
 

Page 38



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 5 SEPTEMBER 2019      
_________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                           
 

                                                                                                                        Page   10 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THIS IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 5 SEPTEMBER 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Chair                      28 NOVEMBER 2019   
 
 
 

 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



 

                                                                                                                                      Page 7 

 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 
MONDAY 9 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 

 
Present: Councillors:  R Berry  (Chair) 
  S Jones  
  T Morris 
  A Dodwell (substituting for J D’Este-Hoare) 
  F Kharawala 
  B Spurr 
  V Harvey 
  A Gray 
  P Snelling 
        
Also in attendance:   M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 

I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental  
Services) 
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
Services) 
 

                    Members of the public:  0  
 
 
15/GE      APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J D’Este-Hoare, 
substituted by Councillor A Dodwell. 
   

16/GE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. No declarations were made and no dispensations had been 
requested. 

 
17/GE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
 There were no questions from the public. 
  
18/GE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Committee received the draft minutes of the Grounds and Environmental 

Services Committee meeting held on 10 June 2019.  
 
 Minute reference 5/GE – it was agreed to follow up with Central Bedfordshire 

Council regarding options for management of car parking at the Mentmore 
Park and Memorial Gardens car park.  

 
 Minute reference 7/GE – a verbal update was given regarding allotments. 

New signage had been installed on both sites, incorporating a noticeboard 

Page 41



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  9 SEPTEMBER 2019   
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  8 

for use by the Allotment Association. Work to clear sites had been undertaken 
in-house and all vacant plots had been offered, meaning 95% average 
occupancy across the two sites and a minimal waiting list of 12-13 people, 
none of whom had been on the waiting list for longer than a couple of months.  

  
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Grounds and 

Environmental Services Committee held on 10 June 2019 be approved 
as a correct record and were signed accordingly. 

 
19/GE COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN 
 
 The Committee received the objectives and work plan for the current 

municipal year.  
 
 A query was raised regarding the proposed update on waste and recycling 

scheduled for the 2 March 2020 meeting. It was anticipated that following the 
start of the new contract at the end of October 2019, the first batch of data 
from the supplier would have come through by the March meeting of the 
Committee.  

 
 RESOLVED to note the Committee work plan and objectives for 2019-

2020.  
 

20/GE PROJECTS UPDATE  
 
The Committee received a verbal update on a number of ongoing projects 
and noted that work was due to be undertaken to repair faulty play equipment 
in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground as well as re-fencing the tennis court 
and basketball court at Pages Park.  Longer term projects included the 
potential building of a second mausoleum, the skate park and the potential 
new sites included in the East of Leighton-Linslade housing development at 
Chamberlains Barn.  
 
The Committee was advised by Councillor Spurr that a woodland or green 
cemetery at Rushmere was still considered inappropriate for the site for the 
same reasons as originally given several years ago.  
 
RESOLVED to note the information.   
 

21/GE PAGES PARK PAVILION REFURBISHMENT UPDATE  
 
 The Committee received a verbal update in respect of the refurbishment of 

the pavilion building at Pages Park. Work continued at a rapid pace and was 
currently ahead of schedule with external paths complete, windows and 
external doors to be installed shortly and plastering underway. The building 
would have a lighter, more airy feel due to the removal of the suspended 
ceiling and installation of floor to ceiling windows. Photographs were shown 
of the project to date and it was noted that the refurbishment was on course 
for completion as scheduled, around 8 November.  

 
 A query was raised regarding the Pages Park Play Café; it was anticipated 

that they would be moving back to Pages Park as soon as refurbishment 
works were complete. 

Page 42



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  9 SEPTEMBER 2019   
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  9 

 
 A query was raised regarding the potential to install a pétanque piste or 

terrain at Pages Park. It was understood that the cost for a piste (suitable for 
one game) would be around £14,000 and therefore the cost for a terrain 
(suitable for two or more games) was anticipated to be nearer £30,000. It 
was felt that fencing would be necessary, which would be at an additional 
cost. There was no scope within the Pages Park refurbishment project 
budget for this but further consideration could be given to it at a later date.  

 
 RESOLVED to note the information.  

 
22/GE CHILDREN’S FUNERAL FUND  
 
 The Committee received information regarding recent legislation on the 

Children’s Funeral Fund for England, a scheme whereby bereaved parents, 
carers or guardians would no longer have to pay the fees charged for 
cremation or burial of a child under the age of 18 years. Whilst this would 
predominantly be dealt with by funeral directors, in some cases the Town 
Council did deal direct with bereaved families and would therefore ensure 
that families were made aware of the option to access the Fund. 

 The Committee noted the information and expressed the hope that both 
training and support were in place to assist staff having to deal with such 
potentially harrowing situations.  

  
 RESOLVED: 

(i) To note the report. 
(ii) To acknowledge the introduction of The Social Fund (Children’s 

Funeral Fund for England) Regulations 2019. 
(iii) To note the change in procedure whereby in situations where the 

Town Council was dealing directly with families, officers would 
ensure the families were aware of their choice to access the Fund 
and if taken up, would apply to the Fund for reimbursement of the 
appropriate fees.   

 
23/GE REVIEW OF GREEN FLAG AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 The Committee received the judge’s reports from the Green Flag judging of 

Pages Park, Parson’s Close Recreation Ground and Vandyke Road 
Cemetery and noted that feedback on Linslade Recreation Ground was still 
awaited. All four Green Flags had been retained for 2019 and the judges’ 
reports included positive feedback and comments.  

 
 In respect of the judges’ comments on the site management plans, it was felt 

that the plans were appropriate and fit for purpose, although recognised that 
plans for some sites elsewhere within the region were significantly longer and 
more detailed. 

 
 Any recommendations arising from the Green Flag judging would come back 

to Committee at a later date, after consideration of financial and resourcing 
implications and where appropriate, be included within the budget setting 
process. 

 
 

Page 43



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  9 SEPTEMBER 2019   
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  10 

 It was noted that a response was outstanding from Central Bedfordshire 
Council on the footpaths and lighting within Parson’s Close Recreation 
Ground. The pathways were of particular concern given the use by cyclists 
and members of Junior Parkrun.  

 
 It was suggested that the Council should raise awareness of the positive 

comments made by the Green Flag judges.   
 
 RESOLVED to note the reports.  
 
24/GE INTERPRETATION PANELS IN THE PARKS AND OPEN SPACES  
 
 The Committee received a report regarding the design of meaningful, 

innovative and interactive interpretation panels as well as signage for a 
number of the Town Council’s parks and green spaces. In order to ensure 
designs which would be appropriate to each site and appealing to all ages, it 
was proposed that the design work be outsourced to a specialist supplier. 
Designs would then come back to Committee for final approval.  

 
 The question of whether it would be appropriate to consider sponsorship was 

raised. It was also noted that ongoing maintenance costs needed to be 
considered within the annual revenue budget. 

 The potential to perhaps include parks and open spaces as a trail was 
suggested.  

 
 RESOLVED: 

(i) To note the report. 
(ii) To endorse expenditure of up to a maximum of £50,000 from 

Earmarked Reserve 9024/950 to fund the interpretation panels in 
the parks and open spaces project (subject to Committee 
approval of proposed designs). 

(iii) To delegate authority to the Town Clerk to incur expenditure of 
up to a maximum of £10,000 for the design work for the projects 
outlined in the report (final designs to come back to Committee 
at a future meeting for approval).  

  
 25/GE      QUARTERLY BUDGET MONITORING REPORT  
  

 The Committee received a budget monitoring report for the first quarter, 1 
April – 30 June 2019. Overall, expenditure was slightly ahead at 29%, but 
income was also slightly ahead of budget for the period. The largest 
expenditure was for annual payments relating to vehicles and equipment and 
expenditure was also shown as committed for the year, for vehicles and the 
solar compacting bins.  

 
 Expenditure since June would appear in the next quarterly budget monitoring 

report. 
 
 A query was raised regarding the use of finance for the purchase of large 

scale equipment, rather than use of reserves, which was explained.  
 
 
 RESOLVED to note the report.  

Page 44



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  9 SEPTEMBER 2019   
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  11 

  
26/GE  INCREASED MEMORIALISATION  
 

The Committee received a report proposing the introduction of increased 
options for memorialisation, for those wishing to remember and 
commemorate their loved ones in a range of ways. Proposals included the 
purchase of a steel memorial tree, a columbarium and a child columbarium 
with character set benches.  

 
  A range of views was expressed and it was noted that the specific details of 

fees and charges for memorial options would need to be agreed when setting 
all cemetery related fees and charges at the next meeting. It was agreed to 
clarify whether The Childrens Fund could be accessed for child 
memorialisation.  

 
The Committee expressed support for offering further memorialisation 
options but requested that further consideration be given to possible 
alternatives to the proposed steel tree. On an amendment to the 
recommendations being proposed and seconded, a vote was carried (8 in 
favour, 1 abstention). 
 
RESOLVED: 
(i) To note the report. 
(ii) To endorse the principle of purchasing a memorial option such 

as a memorial tree, but for specific options to be brought to a 
future meeting for the Committee to determine. 

(iii) To endorse the purchase, supply and installation of one 
Columbarium at a cost of £12, 180. 

(iv) To endorse the purchase, supply and installation of one Child 
Columbarium with character set benches at a cost of £10, 300.  

 
 27/GE     CEMETERY CONSULATION  
 

The Committee received a report summarising the findings of the recent public 
consultation held in respect of the options available to the Town Council due 
to limited space remaining for interments at both cemetery sites.  
 
It was noted that 95% of consultation respondents were in favour of the Town 
Council remaining a burial authority. It was noted that the option to be interred 
within the parish was very important to many residents, particularly long-
standing or life-long residents.  
 
The Committee expressed concern that options within the Town Council’s 
direct control were extremely limited, given the lack of available suitable land 
for purchase. Land allocated within the East of Leighton-Linslade urban 
extension was not only outside the parish boundary, but the extent of 
geophysical investigations was unknown and therefore its suitability for 
cemetery land was uncertain, particularly given its proximity to the flood plain 
of Clipstone Brook.  
 
It was agreed to seek support from the principal authority on the matter of 
additional burial land and to defer any further decision until at least the next 
meeting of the Committee. The urgency of the situation was accepted but it 

Page 45



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  9 SEPTEMBER 2019   
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  12 

was agreed that the Town Council needed to be confident that every possible 
avenue had been explored.  
 
RESOLVED: 
(i) to note the key findings of the cemetery public consultation. 
(ii) to defer any further discussion until the next meeting of the 

Committee.  
(iii) To delegate authority to the Town Clerk to write to Central 

Bedfordshire Council seeking its urgent support with the matter 
of additional cemetery land.   

 
 28/CE     EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding 
the Astral Park Task and Finish Group. 

 
 29/CE    TASK AND FINISH GROUP ASTRAL PARK 

  
The Committee received the draft minutes of the Astral Park Task and Finish 
Group meeting held on 21 August 2019, as well as a covering report and a 
copy of the report presented to Council in April 2019 for background 
information. A verbal overview was given in respect of the recommendations 
being put forward by the Task and Finish Group. It was noted that further 
recommendations would come forward to the appropriate Committee or Sub-
Committee in due course. 
 
On being proposed and seconded, the recommendations were carried (8 in 
favour, 1 against).   
 
RESOLVED to endorse the budget recommendations for budget lines 
111, 115 and 116 for 2020-2021 onwards, as set out within the minutes of 
the Astral Park Task and Finish Group meeting held on 21 August 2019. 
 
RESOLVED to endorse that tenders be invited for the provision of 
profesisonal cleaning services for the pavilion buildings at Astral Park, 
Mentmore Park and Pages Park.  

  
The meeting closed at 2119 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 SEPTEMBER 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Chair                      2 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

Page 15 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

16 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present Councillors:  S Jones (Chair) 
C Palmer 
G Perham 
A Dodwell 
R Berry 
J M Freeman 
S Hemmings (substituting for D Bowater) 
D Scott 
R Goodchild 
P Snelling (substituting for S Owen) 
T Morris 

      
Also in attendance:  M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
     S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
     Services) 
     Cllr V Harvey 
   
Members of the public:  3 

 
43/PF      APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Bowater 

(substituted by Councillor S Hemmings) and S Owen (substituted by 
Councillor P Snelling) 

 
44/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. Councillor A Dodwell declared an interest in the agenda item on 
Policing as a member of the Police and Crime Panel.  
 

45/PF     QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

 There were no questions from the public. 
 

 46/PF    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 17 June 2019 for consideration. 
 
Minute reference 34/PF (Hardware and Software): the Committee was 
advised that as advised by email following the meeting, an extended 
warranty had been secured for the new computers. Final costs including the 

Page 47



Policy & Finance       16 SEPTEMBER 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

16 

five year warranty and configuration costs totalled just under £18,000, just 
over half of which would be met by earmarked reserves and just under half 
from general reserves. It was hoped that installation would take place within 
the next couple of weeks. 
 
Minute reference 36/PF (Bandstand signage): the Committee was advised 
that the new signage had been successfully installed within a few days of the 
previous meeting. 
 
Minute reference 41/PF (Boundary review): the Committee was advised of a 
letter received from Central Bedfordshire Council advising that no parish 
boundary review would be undertaken before the completion of the current 
ward boundary review in 2020. Town and parish councils would have an 
opportunity to feed into the consultation process of the ward boundary 
review.  
 
The Committee expressed disappointment with this response and it was 
agreed that the Committee keep this under regular review. 
   
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 17 June 2019  be approved as a correct record and 
were signed accordingly.  

  
 47/PF    COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received and considered the Work Plan and Objectives for 
2019-2020.  For operational reasons it was agreed to defer a customer 
service strategy until a more appropriate time, hopefully later in the municipal 
year.  
 
The Volunteer Strategy item required further work to be undertaken and the 
suggestion of consultation was raised. It was anticipated that broad brush 
principles and timescales would be introduced at the next meeting but that 
further detail would come forward at a future date.   
   
RESOLVED to note the Committee Work Plan and Objectives for  
2019-2020.  

 
48/PF   PLANNING POLICY  
 
 By invitation, Sally Chapman of Chapman Planning presented to the 

Committee a report regarding the potential creation of a Town Council led 
policy document.  This included an overview of the consultant’s experience 
and credentials, an overview of the statutory process, the potential 
advantages, the potential risks, the likely timescales and costs, resourcing, 
funding options and examples of plans in other areas. 

 
 In conclusion, it was suggested that a neighbourhood plan document was 

likely to take at least two years to complete and although, if successfully 

Page 48



Policy & Finance       16 SEPTEMBER 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

17 

completed and adopted, would have equal weight to the Local Plan, was no 
guarantee of desired outcomes being delivered. 

 
 It was suggested that alternative options for achieving the desired outcomes 

for land south of the High Street could include revision of the development 
brief for the land, collaboration with Central Bedfordshire Council and 
consideration of options presented by the Government Future High Street 
Fund.   

 
 Committee members expressed a range of views. Frustration was expressed 

at the lack of progress since the creation of the development brief in 2012. 
The committee expressed support for inward investment and appropriate 
development of the site in order to enhance the vitality of the town centre.  
The potential drawbacks in terms of process and cost associated with a 
Neighbourhood Plan were recognised and it was noted that no weight would 
be afforded to a Plan until the very end of the process, during which time 
planning applications for the site could well have been brought forward.  

 
 Despite the inherent risks, it was felt that limited options were available and 

therefore the potential to develop a Plan should not be entirely dismissed as 
yet. 

 
 It was proposed and seconded that the Town Council contact Central 

Bedfordshire Council to request that a meeting take place to discuss other 
potential options to work collaboratively to progress appropriate 
development of land south of the High Street, including potential revision of 
the development brief and consideration of the Future High Street Fund, and 
that the question of developing a Neighbourhood Plan be reviewed again in 
a year’s time. On being put to the vote, the motion was carried (9 in favour, 
2 abstentions).  

 
 RESOLVED that the Town Council contact Central Bedfordshire 

Council to request that a workshop take place to discuss other 
potential options to work collaboratively to progress appropriate 
development of land south of the High Street, including potential 
revision of the development brief and consideration of the Future High 
Street Fund, and that the question of developing a Neighbourhood Plan 
be reviewed again in a year’s time. 

 
 Ms Chapman was thanked for her presentation and left the meeting at 2041 

hours.  
 
49/PF AUGUST AND SEPTEMBER PAYMENTS 2019  

 
  The Committee received a schedule of payments which had previously been    

approved for payment by the Town Clerk and countersigned by two account 
signatories.  There were no anomalies or matters of concern to draw to the 
attention of the Committee.     

       

Page 49



Policy & Finance       16 SEPTEMBER 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

18 

The schedule for August 2019 dated 10 July  2019, included BACS payments 
amounting to £211,644.82 (page numbers 2593, 2595, 2596 and 2599-2614) 
and cheque payments amounting to £2063.50 (cheque numbers 17421-
17431), including White House petty cash amounting to £29.98,  Astral Park 
£64.23 and TACTIC £63.54. 

 
The monthly salaries listing for August 2019 amounting to £97,813.12 gross 
was received.  A cash book report for August 2019, including details of all 
direct debit payments, was also received. 
 
The schedule for September 2019 dated 15 August 2019 included BACS 
payments amounting to £194,648.96 (page numbers 2615, 2616, 2617, 
2618,2621-2633)) and cheque payments amounting to £862.78 (cheque 
numbers 17433-17440), including White House petty cash amounting to 
£34.66 Astral Park £66.27 and TACTIC £10.60. 
 
The monthly salaries listing for September 2019 amounting to £98,103.12 
gross was received.  A cash book report for September 2019, including 
details of all direct debit payments, was also received. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the schedule of accounts for August and 
September 2019. 

 
50/PF   RISK REGISTER UPDATE  
 
 The Committee received and considered a mid-year update on the Risk 

Register action plan for 2019-2020.   
 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
  51/PF   COMMUNICATION UPDATE  
 

The Committee received a report in respect of communications, including the 
Town Council website, social media channels and overall communications 
strategy.  The new website had been launched in July after months of in-
house preparation work re-working content and preparing graphics.  The site 
now includes three integrated sites for LLTC, Astral Park and TACTIC.  The 
next stage would be to upgrade the content management system currently 
in place for the Leighton Buzzard Market Website. 
 
The Committee noted the success of the electronic signs in publishing 
messages to the public and it was suggested that consideration be given to 
expanding this type of communication. It was noted that footfall in Parson’s 
Close Recreation Ground was very high over the summer months and 
suggested that opportunities be sought for greater communication with park 
visitors.  
 
Discussion took place regarding the About Town newsletter and whether 
targeted delivery of paper copies would be appropriate, to ensure reach to 

Page 50



Policy & Finance       16 SEPTEMBER 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

19 

all elements of the community. It was suggested that further consideration 
be given to this and the budgetary implications thereof. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 

  
 52/PF    POLICIES  
 
 The Committee considered recommendations made by the Market Sub-

Committee on 29 August 2019 in respect of the Market Adverse Weather 
Policy. 

 
 RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the Adverse Weather Policy 

and Disclaimer. 
   

 53/PF    POLICING  
 
 Further to the previous meeting of the Committee, informal discussions had 

taken place regarding policing matters. A draft letter to the Chief Constable 
was circulated for consideration, emphasising the need for appropriate 
accommodation in the town for police.  

 
RESOLVED to approve the draft letter to the Chief Constable. 

   
  54/PF     EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

  
RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding 
the following items. 

 
Members of the public left the meeting at 2113 hours.  
   

 55/PF   HONOURS AND AWARDS   
 

 The Committee received and considered a report regarding a change in 
legislation and to consider future options in respect of Honours and Awards. 

 
RESOLVED:  
 
(a) To note the report 

(b) To recommend to Council to note the change in legislation regarding 

civic awards and the potential to confer the title of Honorary Freeman 

or Freewoman in future, should it be appropriate to do so. 

(c) To continue to invite nominations by 31 October 2019 for the 2020 

award of the existing Honorary Burgess scheme, but to note this will 

be the final year of the aware, due to legislative changes. 

Page 51



Policy & Finance       16 SEPTEMBER 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

20 

(d) To form a Task and Finish Group to discuss in detail options for a 

future award scheme, with recommendations to come forward to the 

Grants and Awards Sub-Committee on 4 November 2019 and thence 

to Policy and Finance Committee on 18 November 2019. 

(e) To consider the merits of the same Task and Finish Group also 

reviewing existing Guaranteed Grant and General Grant eligibility 

and procedures, with recommendations to come forward to the 

Grants and Awards Sub-Committee on 4 November 2019. 

 
56/PF TOWN COUNCIL OBJECTIVES  

 
The Committee considered a draft list of objectives and projects to be included 
within the Five Year Plan for the period 2019-2024. It was noted that the Five 
Year Plan was an iterative document and would continue to be added to and 
revised throughout its lifespan. Furthermore, that projects not directly 
deliverable by the Town Council would continue to be the subject of a 
“partnership project list”, to be raised in the appropriate forums and the subject 
of ongoing lobbying. 
 
Whilst further work needed to be done to determine financial and resourcing 
requirements, a draft list of priorities was discussed for recommendation to 
Council. Once endorsed in principle, specific scoping work would be 
undertaken and projects progressed through the budget setting process and 
the appropriate Committee work plans.  
 
RECOMMENDED to Council to endorse the proposed list below of 
projects and objectives for inclusion within the Council’s work plan for 
2019-2024: 
 

2019-2020 

1 Town Ranger service (from 1 April 2020) 

2 Drinking water fountains  

3 Changing pod facility in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground 

4 Additional memorialisation options (already underway) 

5 Initial scoping work on services for older people 
(survey/consultation) – to be progressed thereafter 

2020-2021 

4 Adventure playground 

5 Consideration of overflow car parking at Mentmore Park 

6 Projects for young people (arising from current 
survey/consultation) – possibly including BMX track 
improvement/development 

2021-2022 

7 Second Mausoleum (subject to interest) 

Partnership/longer term project list   

8 Skate park improvement 

9 Cultural and community facility  

10 Soft play facility 

Page 52



Policy & Finance       16 SEPTEMBER 2019 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

21 

11 Vandyke Road youth club 

12 Leighton-Linslade Green Wheel 

13 Additional cemetery land 

14 Additional allotment land 

15 Improved accommodation for TACTIC 

16 Restoration of Henry Finch memorial fountain 

17 Recycling of cups and glasses at events 

  
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 2138 hours.    
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 JULY 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Chair         18 NOVEMBER 2019. 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Date:           29 August 2019

Title:           Adverse Weather Policy 

Purpose of the Report:                     By way of an Adverse Weather Policy 
and Disclaimer, to provide clarity and 
certainty to market traders in the event 
of adverse weather being forecast. 

Contact Officer:                                     Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Five Year Plan – To continue to support a vibrant town through 
partnership working & initiatives including management of the street 
market, support businesses, town & community promotions & town 
centre enhancements.

Implications:
Financial √
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery

√

Procedural/Legal √ The disclaimer and adverse weather policy have been agreed by 
the Town Council’s solicitor. The insurance provider is satisfied 
with the said policy. 

Risk/Health and Safety √ Should market traders decide to put their business interests 
above health and safety and ignore Town Council policy, this 
decision is entirely at their own risk. Those that choose to do so, 
should be satisfied that they have at least £15 million worth of 
public liability cover in place and that their insurer is satisfied with 
them defying adopted Town Council policy. 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To adopt the Adverse Weather Policy as attached at Appendix A. 

1.2 To endorse the Disclaimer as attached at Appendix B. 

1.3 To endorse the recommended policy changes as set out at paragraph 
3.1 of this report. 

2      Background  

2.1 Since the successful relaunch of the twice weekly market in September 
2017, the Town Council has been forced to close the market on 5 occasions. 
On all 5 occasions, the weather conditions were such that it was considered 
too hazardous to erect and thereafter operate from market structures. 
Despite this, a handful of traders have chosen to put their business interests 
first. By acting in this way, it meant that any insurance policy they have is 
likely to be void as the market has been closed by the operator (The Town 
Council). 

2.2 The purpose of this paper is to offer clarity to all those who have an interest 
in the market. By having a robust policy that is both reasonable and fair will 

Page 55



 

provide certainty to all and where possible, preserve the opportunity for 
market traders to carry on trading. What the policy will however require is for 
traders to recognise the potential threat that adverse weather poses and an 
acceptance that in order to trade, they will have to modify the way they 
operate.  For some this may not be possible which is regrettably accepted.  
However, there are those traders who by virtue of the goods they sell will be 
able to continue trading. 

2.3 For the market, the greatest most prevalent challenge is managing high   
winds. The east-west orientation of the High Street together with relative 
building heights means that the High Street acts as a funnel with wind 
channelled down its length causing a danger to the temporary structures that 
is the market. To this end, once the MET Office issues an amber warning for 
high winds and gusts (see overleaf for definition **), the Town Council as 
market operator has no choice other than to close the market. The emerging 
presumption (as set out within the emerging policy) is that the market can 
stay open should an amber weather warning for high winds be issued. As 
set out at paragraph 2.2, this will require some compromise (which it is 
accepted may not be possible) from all traders. However, the alternative is 
for the market in its entirety to be closed which is then not fair to those who 
are able to adapt to the conditions. In summary, should an amber weather 
warning predicting high winds be issued:

 At least 48 hours-notice will be given of the Town Council’s 
intention to implement its inclement (amber weather warning) policy 
thereby allowing those who sell perishable goods to plan 
accordingly.

 No gazebo/town council owned structures will be erected
 Traders will have the choice as to whether they decide to attend or 

not. Should traders decide not to attend, they will not be charged 
for missing the market day.

 For those traders who do attend, they will have the choice as to 
whether they trade from a vehicle/trailer or tabletop as both 
methods of trading are considered of a lesser risk when compared 
to trading from beneath a temporary structure such as a gazebo or 
similar.

 Under these conditions, the Market Manager or their 
representative, will at their discretion introduce a revised market 
layout based on which traders may wish to attend.

 The market may not be serviced in the usual way albeit 
contingency arrangements may be put in place that may require the 
traders to either take their rubbish away or dispose of it in the 
market bins which may be located in an alternative secure position.

 No tables will be provided by the Town Council. It is expected that 
market traders who need the use of tables will provide their own

Page 56



 

**This is defined as being: There is an increased likelihood of impacts from 
severe weather, which could potentially disrupt your plans. This means there is 
the possibility of travel delays, road and rail closures, power cuts and the 
potential risk to life and property. You should think about changing your plans 
and taking action to protect yourself and your property. You may want to 
consider the impact of the weather on your family and your community and 
whether there is anything you need to do ahead of the severe weather to 
minimise the impact.

2.4 Dealing with traders who decide to ignore the adverse weather policy and 
continue to erect their own structures. It is a huge frustration that the Town 
Council is forced to adopt a position on this matter. Should traders decide to 
disregard the adverse weather policies, this will be entirely at their own risk. 
By doing so, they are acting outside of the adverse weather policy and will 
not be recognised on those days. The insurance industry recommends that 
the market trader has at least £15 million pounds of cover. A failure to have 
the appropriate level of insurance cover will again be at the trader’s own risk. 
Traders must satisfy both themselves and their insurance provider that their 
decision to ignore the policy will not compromise any insurance cover they 
believe they have in place. 

2.5 All traders will be presented with a disclaimer which has been agreed with 
the Town Council’s solicitor and insurer which they are expected to sign. A 
failure to sign the disclaimer (See Appendix B) does not however mean 
that the trader is exempt from the Adverse Weather Policy. This policy 
is binding on all who trade on the market. 

2.6 Payment Schedule: On such occasions, the trading fees for the day will be 
reduced and will be at the discretion of the Market Manager. Those who 
disregard the Adverse Weather Policy are not recognised and will therefore 
not be charged a fee. 

3 Meeting with Market Trader Representatives

3.1 On Tuesday 13th August, the Town Clerk met with Market Trader 
Representatives to discuss the emerging Adverse Weather Policy. At the 
said meeting, the Trader Representatives raised 3 issues in respects of the 
policy:

Market Trader 
Representative Request

Town Council Response Recommended 
Policy Changes 

i) That tables should be 
provided when the 
adverse weather policy is 
being implemented 

This considered an 
acceptable and 
reasonable request. 
However, a decision will 

The decision to 
provide Town 
Council owned 
tables will be at 

Page 57



 

be made on the morning 
to determine the 
appropriateness or 
otherwise in providing 
tables. 

the discretion of 
the market 
manager and will 
be subject to the 
weather 
conditions of the 
day. 

ii) That greater certainty 
should be provided in 
respect of the fees that 
traders are to be charged 
on those days when the 
adverse weather policy is 
in operation. 

This is considered an 
acceptable and 
reasonable request. All 
traders who turn up and 
trade in accordance with 
the adverse weather 
policy will be charged 
40% of their normal rent. 
It remains that those 
traders who decide to 
ignore this policy will not 
be recognised and will 
therefore not be charged 
a rent for the day as they 
are working outside of the 
policy parameters. 

All who trade in 
accordance with 
the adverse 
weather policy 
will be charged 
40% of their 
normal rent in 
order to reflect 
the weather 
conditions of the 
day. Those that 
trade outside 
policy 
parameters will 
not be 
recognised and 
therefore will not 
be charged a rent 
for the day.  

iii) That the emerging 
policy does not allow 
traders to bring and use 
their own structures 
thereby denying those 
who may wish to work 
from their own structure 
opportunity to do so. 

The Town Council does 
not consider this a 
reasonable request for 
the following. The 
challenge is that no two 
structures are alike both 
in construction and 
purpose. Whilst some 
structures could be 
deemed safe to operate 
from, the challenge rests 
with their construction 
and removal during 
testing weather 
conditions. To endorse 
their use would potentially 
leave the Town Council 
vulnerable should an 
insurance challenge be 
made. The issue here 
rests with the Town 
Council endorsing a 

No change to 
policy. 

Page 58



 

practice that has an 
unreasonable level of risk 
to the detriment of those 
building the structure as 
well as the public and 
property at large. 
Should a trader decide to 
erect their own structure 
(outside of the policy 
parameters), they would 
have to satisfy both 
themselves and their 
insurance company that 
they are covered despite 
their actions being 
contrary to the Town 
Council’s policy as 
market operator.   

END

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



1

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 
Tel: 01525 631920
Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

APPENDIX A

Leighton Buzzard Market Adverse Weather Policy

Introduction 

The Town Council’s intention is to preserve the opportunity for market traders to trade. 
For circumstances outside of the Town Council’s control, there may be times when 
alternative trading arrangements are necessary in order to allow trading activity to take 
place albeit on a reduced scale. At such times, traders will be required to comply 
with the Town Council’s instructions. A failure to do so will mean that a trader 
is wilfully acting outside of the scope of this policy and is doing so entirely at 
their own risk. 

The Town Council will maintain its right to close or cancel the market at short notice 
and at its absolute discretion if it is considered necessary on the grounds of public 
safety. This includes “acts of God”, terrorism, flood, unexpected highway maintenance 
and weather conditions considered too severe to safely trade. 

Adverse Weather Conditions 

The Town Council monitors all weather conditions on a market-by-market basis 
including adverse and severe warnings for rainfall, snow, ice and high winds. The 
decision to operate alternative trading arrangements, cancel or close the market, will 
be taken when the predicted or actual weather conditions are considered to present 
too high a risk of harm to the public, trader and council staff (stall erectors) or 
damage to equipment or surrounding properties.

The Town Council monitors the Met Office’s colour coded weather warnings as well 
as the Beaufort Scale for marine forecast (an empirical measure for describing wind 
intensity) to understand the impact of wind speeds, (see figs.1 & 2 below). 

In making the decision to operate alternative trading arrangements, cancel or close 
the market, the Town Council’s approach is to:

• Ensure the safety of the public, traders and council staff

• Ensure that decisions for the market are managed in a fair and consistent 
manner

• Undertake the management of the market with due diligence upkeeping the 
Town Council’s responsibilities and liabilities working reasonably within 
legislative and insurer’s advisory parameters 

The Town Council’s Approach 

Page 61



2

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 
Tel: 01525 631920
Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

The presumption remains that wherever 
possible, the Town Council wishes to preserve the opportunity for market traders to 
trade. 

Operational decisions on whether or how to operate the market will be at the discretion 
of the Market Manager or their representative based on Met Office forecasts and 
Beaufort Scale guidance. 

Severe weather conditions

Should the weather conditions deteriorate to the point where the Town Council 
believes it is no longer safe to carry on trading, all traders will cease to trade 
immediately upon notice from the Town Council with no exceptions. This will usually 
apply where a red weather warning has been issued. This is known as the Severe 
Weather Policy.

Amber weather warning

Should an amber weather warning for high winds or severe gusts be forecast for the 
day of trading for example, the following provisions will be applied; 

• No gazebos/town council owned structures will be erected.

• Traders will have the choice as to whether they decide to attend or not. Should 
traders decide not to attend, they will not be charged for missing a market 
trading day.

• For those traders that do attend, they will have the choice as to whether they 
trade from a vehicle or tabletop as both methods of trading are considered of a 
lesser risk when compared to trading from beneath a temporary structure such 
as a gazebo or similar.

• Under these conditions, the Market Manager or their representative, will at their 
discretion introduce a revised market layout based on which traders may wish 
to attend.

• The market may not be serviced in the usual way albeit contingency 
arrangements may be put in place that may require the traders to either take 
their rubbish away or dispose of it in the market bins which may be in an 
alternative secure position.

•  The decision to provide Town Council owned tables will be at the discretion of 
the market manager and will be subject to the weather conditions of the day. 

This is known as the Inclement Policy. Where possible, market traders will be issued 
with at least 48 hours’ notice of the Inclement Policy being applied before the market 
is due to take place. 

What happens should a trader decide to ignore the Severe Weather Policy or the 
Inclement Policy and continue to erect their own structure?

Page 62



3

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 
Tel: 01525 631920
Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

The Town Council had made its position 
clear on this matter. Should traders decide to disregard the Severe Weather Policy or 
the Inclement Policy, this will be entirely at their own risk. By doing so, they are acting 
outside of the Adverse Weather Policy and will not be recognised as market traders 
on those days. The insurance industry recommends that the market trader has at least 
£15 million pounds of cover. A failure to have the appropriate level of insurance cover 
will again be at the trader’s own risk. Traders must satisfy both themselves and their 
insurance provider that their decision to ignore the Adverse Weather Policy will not 
compromise any insurance cover they believe they have in place. 

All traders will be presented with a disclaimer which they are expected to sign. A failure 
to sign the disclaimer (See Appendix B) does not however mean that the trader is 
exempt from the Adverse Weather Policy. This policy is binding on all who trade on 
the market. 

Payment Schedule 

On such occasions that the Town Council decides to apply the Adverse Weather 
Policy, the trading fees for that day will be reduced to 40% of normal market rent. 
Those who disregard Severe Weather Policy or Inclement Policy are not recognised 
and will therefore not be charged a fee.

Pictorial Beaufort Scale (Fig.1)

(Fig. 2)

Page 63



4

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 
Tel: 01525 631920
Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Page 64



The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 
Tel: 01525 631920
Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

                                                 

Appendix B

Leighton Linslade Town Council (“The Town Council”)

Market Trader Disclaimer and Indemnity 

1. Background

The Town Council implemented an Adverse Weather Policy which came into force on [insert 
date].

The Town Council may be required to apply the Inclement Policy or Severe Weather Policy 
as defined in the Adverse Weather Policy.

This Disclaimer applies to circumstances where the Town Council has applied the Inclement 
Policy or Severe Weather Policy and in contravention of the Inclement Policy or Severe 
Weather Policy, you have erected your own stall and traded, without the Town Council’s 
permission. 

2. Disclaimer for personal injury or death

In the absence of any negligence or other breach of duty by the Town Council, erecting your 
own stall and trading whilst the Inclement Policy or Severe Weather Policy has been applied 
is entirely at your risk. This means you would be liable for (but not limited to) all unknown, 
unforeseen, unanticipated and unsuspected injuries, damage, death, loss and liability and the 
consequences thereof. 

3. Disclaimer for loss or damage to property 

In the absence of any negligence or other breach of duty by the Town Council, The Town 
Council is not responsible for any damage, destruction or loss of your property or belongings 
where you have erected your own stall and are trading whilst the Inclement Policy or Severe 
Weather Policy has been applied.  

4. Insurance

You acknowledge that you must check the terms of your insurance policy to check whether 
erecting your own stall and trading whilst the Inclement Policy or Severe Weather Policy has 
been applied invalidates your insurance. 

5. Indemnity

I indemnify the Town Council from any and all claims, actions, procedures, costs, expenses, 
damages and liabilities, including legal fees, brought as a result of me trading where the 
Inclement Policy has been applied.  I agree that this document may be pleaded as a bar to 
any action, claim or proceedings taken at any time against the Town Council by me. 

IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU READ AND UNDERSTAND THIS DISCLAIMER AND 
INDEMNITY BEFORE SIGNING. IF THERE IS ANY TERM YOU DO NOT UNDERSTAND, 
THEN PLEASE DISCUSS IT WITH THE TOWN COUNCIL BEFORE SIGNING.

Page 65



The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 
Tel: 01525 631920
Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Signed ……………………………………………………

Printed Name ……………………………………………

Date ……………………………………….

IN THE EVENT THAT THIS DISCLAIMER AND INDEMNITY IS NOT SIGNED, THE TERMS 
WILL NEVERTHELESS APPLY IN FULL.

Page 66



   

Page 21 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    J Silverstone 
    F Kharawala 
    G Perham  
    A Gray 
    D Bowater 
    D Scott 
    R Berry (substituting for K Cursons) 
                

          Also in attendance:    Mark Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
     

  Members of the public:     6 
 
  

40/P       APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor K Cursons (substituted 
by Councillor R Berry)  
 

41/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
Councillors R Berry and D Bowater declared that due to membership of the 
Central Bedfordshire Development Management Committee, they would abstain 
from voting on planning applications under discussion to avoid any future conflict 
of interest.  

 
42/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

  
 A resident and member of the public spoke to express disappointment in the 

recent change in route of the D1 Dash Direct bus service, resulting in it no longer 
stopping at the Astral Park Sports and Community Centre. 

 
 This was understood to have been a commercial decision made by the operator 

based on low passenger numbers, which was disappointing. The Committee 
agreed that the Town Clerk should write to the operator asking whether there 
was any possibility of a service on event days.  

 
 A resident and member of the publis spoke to express concerns regarding 

planning application reference CB/19/02390 (77 Cotefield Drive). The current 
driveway had space for 4-5 cars but space would be lost due to the proposed 
development and due to short kerbs between driveways, there was little on-street 

Page 67



Planning and Transport Committee  18 SEPTEMBER 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  22 

car parking available. Further concerns included drainage and space for wheelie 
bins.  

 
 Two residents and members of the public spoke in opposition to planning 

application reference CB/19/02331 (18 Waterloo Road, Linslade). Concerns 
raised included potential loss of light and loss of privacy for neighbouring 
properties, overdevelopment of the site resulting in an overbearing visual impact 
and objections to the proposed design, which was felt to be contrary to Central 
Bedfordshire design guidelines and out of keeping with the character of the 
conservation area. The proposed development had caused lots of contention in 
the local area and it was believed that at least eight objections had been lodged 
with the planning authority. 

 
 Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting and encouraged 

to ensure all objections were sent to Central Bedfordshire Council as the 
determining authority.  

 
43/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 21 August  2019. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 21 August 2019 be approved as a correct record and were 
signed accordingly. 

 
44/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
The Committee reviewed applications received up until 13 September 2019. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/02331 (18 Waterloo Road, 
Linslade), on the following grounds: 
- Overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring properties 
- Loss of light to neighbouring properties 
- Overdevelopment of the site resulting in an overbearing visual impact 
- Contravention of Central Bedfordshire Design Guide in terms of design 

principles, detailing and materials and dormer windows 
- Detrimental impact on the Linslade Conservation area 
- Failure to meet Central Bedfordshire car parking standards 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/19/02390 (77 Cotefield Drive), on the 
following grounds: 
- Failure to meet Central Bedfordshire car parking standards for the two 

proposed properties 
- Concerns regarding rights of easement over the proposed mutual 

driveway 
- Concerns regarding drainage and refuse collection  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/02253 (31 Grove Road), 
subject to it meeting Central Bedfordshire car parking standards.  

Page 68



Planning and Transport Committee  18 SEPTEMBER 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  23 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/02465 (53 George Street), 
subject to it meeting Central Bedfordshire car parking standards.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/19/02461 (4 Beaudesert), 
subject to it meeting Central Bedfordshire car parking standards.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following planning applications: 
 
1. CB/19/02256   5 BARNABAS ROAD, LINSLADE 
2. CB/19/01412   19 THE MALTINGS 
3. CB/19/02292/LB  57 HIGH STREET (LISTED BUILDING) 
4. CB/19/02317/VOC  OAK BANK SCHOOL, SANDY LANE 
5. CB/19/02285   49 HARROW ROAD 
6. CB/19/02277   30 CARINA DRIVE  
7. CB/19/02367            36 NEW ROAD, LINSLADE 
8. CB/19/02352            THE RUSHMERE PARK ACADEMY 
9. CB/19/02352            119 WING ROAD, LINSLADE 
10. CB/19/02161            ELM LODGE, 18 STOKE ROAD 
11. CB/19/02468   80 RUSSELL WAY 
     

RESOLVED to note the following works to trees 

1.  CB/TRE/19/00316  48 WATERLOO ROAD, LINSLADE 
2. CB/TCA/19/00343  COURTLANDS, MENTMORE ROAD,  

 
 
45/P TRANSPORT MATTERS 
 
 The Committee was advised of several updates received from Central 

Bedfordshire Council in respect of highways matters raised at previous meetings.  
 
 It was agreed that a query regarding the condition of footpaths in Parson’s Close 

Recreation Ground should be referred to the Grounds and Environmental 
Services Committee for further consideration.  

 
 Councillor Perham advised he was dealing direct with Highways on several 

issues raised by residents. 
 
 Councillor Berry gave an update regarding measures to address waiting and 

parking issues on Grovebury Road and Grovebury Lane.  
 
46/P INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
 No information items had been received.  

 
 
 
 

Page 69



Planning and Transport Committee  18 SEPTEMBER 2019  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  24 

 
The meeting closed at 2035 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD 18 SEPTEMBER 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair              9 OCTOBER 2019 

Page 70



 

Mazars LLP – Salvus House - Aykley Heads - Durham - DH1 5TS 

Tel: +44 (0) 191 383 6300 – Fax: +44 (0) 191 383 6350 – www.mazars.co.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, London 
E1W 1DD. 
  
We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK and Ireland by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit 
registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. 
 
VAT number: 839 8356 73 

 

  

Mr M Saccoccio 

Leighton Linslade Town Council 

The White House 

Hockliffe Street 

Leighton Buzzard 

Bedfordshire 

LU7 1HD 

  

  

Direct line +44 (0)191 383 6348 

Email local.councils@mazars.co.uk 

  16 September 2019 

 

Dear Mr Saccoccio 

Completion of the audit for the year ended 31 March 2019 

We have completed our audit for the year ended 31 March 2019 and I have pleasure in enclosing the 

certified Annual Governance and Accountability Return. The External Auditor’s Certificate and Report is 

given in Section 3.  

If there are any significant matters arising from the audit, they are summarised in the External Auditor’s 

certificate in Section 3. If we have identified minor scope for improvement we have recorded this on page 

2 of this letter. The Council must consider these matters and decide what action is required. In most cases 

this will be self-evident. In some instances we have referred to further guidance available, in particular, in 

the publication “Governance and Accountability for Local Councils – A Practitioners’ Guide (England) 

2010”. This can be obtained via your NALC or SLCC branch, or downloaded free of charge. 

Action you are required to take 

The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 set out what you must do at the conclusion of the 

audit. In summary, you are required to: 

Publish (which must include publication on the authority’s website) a statement: 

 that the audit has been concluded and that the statement of accounts has been published; 

 of the rights of inspection conferred on local government electors by section 25 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014; and 

 the address at which, and the hours during which, those rights may be exercised. 

 Keep copies of the Annual Governance and Accountability Return for purchase by any person on 

payment of a reasonable sum.  

 Ensure that the Annual Governance and Accountability Return remains available for public access for a 

period of not less than five years beginning with the date on which the Annual Governance and 

Accountability Return was first published. 

 

The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 do not specify the period the Completion Notice 

needs to be on the council’s website but this period must be reasonable. 

  

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



 

  

 

    2/2 

 

Minor scope for improvement in 2019/20 

The completion notice for the 17/18 audit was removed from the website before the approval of the 18/19 

audited statements. In future the completion notice should be kept on the website until the completion of the 

following year's audit. 

The bank reconciliation was difficult to follow because it did not include cash book figures. In future the 

Council should use the standard proforma provided in our guidance or in the Practitioner’s Guide when 

preparing the bank reconciliation. 

Audit fee 

We enclose our fee note for the audit, which is in accordance with the audit fee scales set by SAAA, and 

available at http://www.localaudits.co.uk/fees.html  

We would be grateful if you could arrange for this to be paid at the earliest opportunity.  

Mazars Green Policy 

Protection of the environment in which we live and operate is part of Mazars’ values and principles and we 

consider it to be sound business practice. One of our impact areas is to reduce our consumption of paper 

per staff member by 5% year on year. 

In order to help us to achieve this, we will only be returning a hard copy of your AGAR to the council on 

request. Please email us no later than 31 October 2019 if you require a hard copy of your AGAR otherwise 

we will securely dispose of it. 

Yours sincerely 

Cameron Waddell  

Partner 

 

 

 

Page 72

http://www.localaudits.co.uk/fees.html


Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Annual Governance and Accountability Return 2018/19 Part 3
Local Councils, Internal Drainage Boards and other Smaller Authorities*

Page 6 of 6
 

 

Section 3 – External Auditor Report and Certificate 2018/19 
 
 
In respect of Leighton Linslade Town Council 

 

1 Respective responsibilities of the body and the auditor 
This authority is responsible for ensuring that its financial management is adequate and effective and that 
it has a sound system of internal control. The authority prepares an Annual Governance and Accountability 
Return in accordance with Proper Practices which: 

 

•  summarises the accounting records for the year ended 31 March 2019; and 
•  confirms and provides assurance on those matters that are relevant to our duties and responsibilities as 

external auditors. 
 

Our responsibility is to review Sections 1 and 2 of the Annual Governance and Accountability Return in accordance 
with guidance issued by the National Audit Office (NAO) on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General 
(see note below). Our work does not constitute an audit carried out in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK & Ireland) and does not provide the same level of assurance that such an audit would do. 

 

2 External auditor report 2018/19 
 

On the basis of our review of Sections 1 and 2 of the Annual Governance and Accountability Return, in our opinion the information in Sections 1 
and 2 of the Annual Governance and Accountability Return is in accordance with Proper Practices and no other matters have come to our 
attention giving cause for concern that relevant legislation and regulatory requirements have not been met. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Other matters not affecting our opinion which we draw to the attention of the authority: 

 
Not applicable 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 External auditor certificate 2018/19 
We certify that we have completed our review of Sections 1 and 2 of the Annual Governance and Accountability 
Return, and discharged our responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, for the year 
ended 31 March 2019. 

 
*We do not certify completion because: 

 

 
Not applicable 

 
 
 
 

External Auditor Name  
 
Mazars LLP, Durham, DH1 5TS 

  
 
 

External Auditor Signature 
Mazars LLP  

Date 
16 September 2019

*Note: the NAO issued guidance applicable to external auditors’ work on limited assurance reviews in Auditor 
Guidance Note AGN/02. The AGN is available from the NAO website (www.nao.org.uk) 

Page 78



Page 79

Agenda Item 10



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



 1 

Joint Committees : Terms of Reference Final version 
 
Purpose 
 

1. To influence decisions and help shape initiatives and their delivery for the benefit of 
the whole town taking into account the needs of the town, customers, employers, 
employees, residents, visitors, traders, property owners and developers. 

 
2. To develop and encourage public participation and engagement and take into 

consideration the resident voice in the work of the Committee 
 
Objectives 
 

1. Help improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural vitality of the town 
 

2. Ensure a partnership and collaborative approach to achieve the delivery of town 
regeneration, including influencing Section 106 funding received for town 
improvements and community facilities. 

 
3. Opportunities to delegate funding decisions to the Committees should be explored, 

such as Section 106 received to spend on community facilities. 
 

4. The Committee will make decisions on any joint funding allocated to it. 
 

5. Influence and help shape strategies / plans that impact on the future viability of the 
town. 

 
6. Provide a forum for briefing Members of the Joint Committee on all key issues 

affecting the town, at the discretion of the Chairman and Vice Chairman. 
 

7. Make recommendations on strategically significant projects to the relevant Council’s 
decision-making committees, including Committees of the Town Council. 

 
8. Develop and maintain joint branding of communication, agendas and minutes. 

 
9. To enable communities to discuss services and influence decisions at the local level 

as to how these services are delivered 
 

10. To provide a forum for two-way communication about public service delivery and 
the implementation and effectiveness of policies affecting the town. 

 
11. Promote resilience by encouraging communities to do more for themselves and 

champion local solutions. 
 

12. Consider the ways in which proposals and initiatives can help to advance equality of 
opportunity, eliminate discrimination and foster good relations. 

 

Page 85



 2 

Membership 
 

1. Four Councillors from Central Bedfordshire Council and four Councillors from 
Biggleswade Town Council (Biggleswade Joint Committee).  

2. Four Councillors from Central Bedfordshire Council and four Councillors from 
Houghton Regis Town Council (Houghton Regis Partnership Committee). 

3. Five Councillors from Central Bedfordshire Council and five Councillors from 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council (Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee).  

4. Five Councillors from Central Bedfordshire Council and five Councillors from 
Dunstable Town Council (Dunstable Joint Committee).  

 
Who must be elected representatives of the wards. 

 
5. Two substitutes from each Council will be permitted to attend meetings as full 

Committee representatives. A Councillor who sits on both CBC and the Town Council can 
substitute. Central Bedfordshire Council Councillors shall not substitute a Town 
Councillor on the Committee and vice versa.  

6. Substitutes for Central Bedfordshire Council Members on the Joint Committee must be a 
ward councillor in the town in the first instance or if not available a substitute must be 
an Executive Member. Substitutes for the Town Council Members of the Joint 
Committee will be a ward town councillor  
 
7. Members are appointed annually. 
 
8. All Members of the Committee should have the interests of the town as a priority, 

not their own wards. 
 

Meetings and Quorum 
 

1. At least 3 Members from each Council must be in attendance for the meeting to be 
quorate.  

2. Meetings will be held a minimum of once per year and up to 4 per year and take 
place at venues in the area 

3. The Committee may also organise extra ordinary meetings at the discretion of the 
Chairman and Vice Chairman. 

4. In addition to the Committee meetings, the Committee can organise other forms of 
engagement to take place such as themed discussions / task and finish groups and 
community conferences, including joint meetings or events with other Joint 
Committees in Central Bedfordshire.  

5. All meetings will be open to the public unless exempt items are discussed 
 
Chairman and Vice Chairman 
 

1. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall be appointed from and by the Joint Committee’s 
core membership; each Council must be represented in either role. 
 

Page 86



 3 

2. The appointed Chairman and Vice-Chairman will hold their post for a period of one year , 
after which they may stand for re-election. 
 

3. The Vice Chairman will preside in the absence of the Chairman. If neither is present, the 
Committee members in attendance will appoint a Chairman from amongst them for the 
duration of that meeting. 
 

4. The Chairman and Vice Chairman will be responsible for the content of the Committee 
agendas and will allow committee members and other stakeholders to submit agenda topics 
which will be included unless the proposed agenda item is not relevant to the Purpose 
and/or Objectives of the Joint Committee.  
 
Secretariat 

1. Either Council can administer the Joint Committee, according to their own Standing Orders. 
The Committee will decide annually which Council is to administer the Committee. 
 

2. Agendas, minutes and press releases will be issued under joint branding. 
 

3. The secretariat will prepare, monitor and keep up to date an annual work plan to set the 
broad direction and priorities for the Committee.  

•  
Decision making arrangements 
 

1. Only members of the Committee can vote. Co-opted Members have no voting rights. 
 

2. The Committee will not have any decision-making powers regarding planning 
applications and will not seek to duplicate or hinder the work of Central 
Bedfordshire Council as the Local Planning Authority.  
 

3. The Committee will reach decisions by a simple majority.  The Chairman will have the 
casting vote in the case of a tie. 

 
Co-option 
 

1. To support engagement with local stakeholders the Committee can co-opt members 
from local representative groups, as appropriate up to a maximum of 15.  Each co-
opted Member will be able to engage fully in all discussions but will not have any 
voting rights. Co-opted members can also be removed from the Committee.  Decision 
making around removals can either be taken by the whole committee or  by joint 
agreement of the Chairman and Vice Chairman, depending on each Town Joint 
Committee’s preference. 

 
2. The list of Co-opted Members should be reviewed annually by the Committee 

 
Governance 
 

Page 87



 4 

1. The Minutes and action log for the Joint Committee will be presented both to the 
relevant Town Council and Central Bedfordshire Council. The detail of where this will 
be presented will be determined by the Councils and reported back to the Joint 
Committees. 

Page 88



Motion  

to be moved at Leighton-Linslade Town Council meeting 30 September 2019 

That this Council, mindful of the traffic congestion affecting the Leighton Road/West 

Street corridor for considerable parts of the week, requests the road traffic engineers at 

Central Bedfordshire Council to discuss with LLTC’s Planning & Transport Committee 

the possibility of modifying the two pedestrian crossings at the West Street/Bridge Street 

Leighton Buzzard intersection to Pelican crossings or some other type of controlled 

crossing whereby both traffic and pedestrian flows are regulated. 

Mover : Cllr Steve Owen 

Seconder: Cllr Anne Gray 

[Note: the Mover is content that the Motion is referred to the Planning & Transport 

Committee in accordance with Standing Order 10b.] 

 

BACKGROUND: 

The Leighton Road/West Street corridor is often slow-moving as a result of the heavily 

used linked pedestrian crossings at the Bridge Street junction. The pedestrians using the 

crossings are frequently singletons or pairs using the crossings one after the other, 

causing either a lengthy wait for vehicles or permitting only one vehicle at a time to 

proceed before having to stop again. 

In many towns such crossings are light-controlled. Vehicle traffic is able to flow whilst 

pedestrians wait, having pressed the control button. A green light then allow pedestrians 

to cross for a regulated amount of time, after which they again have to wait whilst vehicle 

traffic again proceeds. 

Pedestrians are thus “collected” into groups who all cross at the same time. The problem 

of traffic having to wait for a series of sequential pedestrians to cross is thus greatly 

reduced. Pedestrian safety is improved since the current frustration for drivers is 

reduced and with it the possibility of drivers disregarding would-be pedestrian crossers. 

The success of the scheme could be used to gauge whether similar conversions should 

be planned for e.g. the pedestrian crossing at the North Street roundabout. Section 106 

money could be considered as a legitimate use to part-fund the cost involved. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



Motion  

To be moved at Leighton-Linslade Town Council meeting 30 September 2019 

That this Council resolves to set up a Health Services Sub-Committee, or Task and 

Finish Group, reporting to Policy & Finance Committee, with the following Terms of 

Reference: 

AIMS 

1. To press Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (“BCCG”) and Central 

Bedfordshire Council’s (“CBC”) Health and Well-Being Board (“HWB”) to bring 

forward proposals urgently for a Leighton Buzzard Hub as part of a planned 

approach to improved localisation of hospital services for local residents and to 

secure the town’s fair share of Government investment in the localisation agenda. 

2. To press for the development of that Plan to include local GPs and professions 

ancillary, patient groups and this Town Council, to promote, encourage and support 

early and regular consultation with residents of Leighton Buzzard and Linslade in 

terms of the services to be provided and the location of the Hub 

3. To pursue, in consultation with the three groups mentioned above, that this 

comprehensive Plan shall include 

a) a Leighton Buzzard Hub providing a range of services that are currently provided 

either by local hospitals or not at all  

b) the accommodation and investment requirements of existing GP surgeries in the 

town 

c) planned GP surgeries serving the new developments on the eastern side of the 

town, and also Linslade residents, who used to have two Linslade surgeries and 

now have none 

4. To press NHS England for greater transparency on the quality standards for health 

services being delivered locally and to act as a sounding-board for local residents. 

SUGGESTED MEMBERSHIP 

Town Councillors, Leighton Buzzard GP surgery professional representatives (by 

invitation) and Leighton Buzzard patient group representatives (numbers to be 

discussed). 

Moved : Cllr Steve Owen, Seconded Cllr Anne Gray 

[Note: the Mover is content for the Motion to stand referred to the Policy & Finance 

Committee in accordance with Standing Order 10b.] 

 

BACKGROUND 

1. For the past twenty years successive Government Health policy has been to 

secure a move of services, currently delivered in hospitals, to local communities. 

Until 2012 this policy was articulated in terms of Community Hospitals. The Town 

Council did a great deal of work between 2005 and 2010 on a proposed Leighton 

Buzzard Community Hospital, with the input of local GPs and patient groups 

acting in a Town Council Health Services Working Group, including developing a 

blueprint of the health services it would provide. The then-Bedfordshire Health 

CEO promised support to turn that plan into reality but he was promoted onwards 

Page 91



and the initiative foundered on the withdrawal of promised resources by 

Bedfordshire Health and mixed support for the initiative from the town’s GP 

surgeries who had their own priorities. 

 

2. In 2015 the Government’s Spending Review required local areas to develop a 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan by 2017 that shifted care from hospitals to 

a local community-based delivery. On 30 June 2016 BCCG, the successor to 

Bedfordshire Health, submitted an application to deliver two “Hubs” in Central 

Bedfordshire, then later it proposed Hubs in Ivel Valley (Biggleswade, Sandy and 

Shefford), West Mid Beds (Ampthill and Flitwick), Chiltern Vale (Dunstable and 

Houghton Regis) and Leighton Buzzard. The same CBC report listed 12 

candidate services to be “localised”.  

 

3. The HWB decided on the Dunstable and Biggleswade Hubs as priorities. No 

rationale for this can be found in the HWB minutes. One surmises that a 

Dunstable Hub could be seen as solving the long-standing problem of 

accommodation needs for Dunstable GP surgeries. The HWB minutes suggest 

that CBC sees its role as a passive presence on the HWB, with BCCG taking the 

lead and deciding the priorities. The implementation of the Dunstable Hub is 

proceeding apace. 

 

4. The HWB minutes record almost no discussion of the need for Leighton Buzzard 

to be accorded priority, despite the rapid population growth of the past ten years 

and also accommodation problems with GPs’ surgeries similar to Dunstable’s. A 

Leighton Buzzard Hub gets fleeting mentions in the HWB minutes – a “Scoping 

Paper” was intended to lead to a “Strategic Outline” paper. Both have been 

repeatedly delayed. A BCCG report to the HWB at its 11 July 2018 meeting states 

“Due to changes  in practices and staffing levels recently it has been agreed that 

instead of prioritising and fast-tracking Leighton Buzzard, all clusters will receive 

intensive support from National Association of Primary Care and other 

organisations to suit their needs and develop at pace”. The report does not 

explain what this sentence means nor do the meeting minutes help.  

 

5. BCCG officers have reportedly announced that the Leighton Buzzard “solution” is 

to have a “Virtual Hub” without defining what that is or giving a rationale. The 

HWB is static in planning the development of localised health services in Leighton 

Buzzard as the Government required.  An individual BCCG manager has 

unilaterally announced that there is to be no new GP surgery serving the new 

housing developments on the eastern edge of town, again with no rationale put 

forward and no explicit strategy for developing the existing surgeries to cater for 

the increased demand for services. 

 

6. Neither GPs nor Patient Participation Groups (“PPGs”) at the current Leighton 

Buzzard surgeries have received consultation on the planning of a Leighton 

Buzzard Hub or on the localisation agenda. The Bassett Road surgery GPs and 

PPG have been active in pressing BCCG for local consultation, but to no avail.  

 

Page 92



7. Leighton Buzzard residents have been kept in the dark by BCCG and CBC over 

the Hub. BCCG’s consutants Arcadis held a restricted access meeting about the 

Hub in the town in January 2018, but there has there been no proper public 

consultation.  

 

8. The Town Council/CBC Partnership Committee has received a series of short 

verbal reports from the link CBC manager over the past two years that add up to 

“no progress to report”. The minutes of the Partnership Committee do not record 

any concerns being  expressed by Town or CBC councillors to CBC or BCCG 

about the neglect of the town’s health services planning. BCCG and CBC’s HWB 

are not being held to account. 

 

9. There is considerable public concern over the inadequate service being provided 

by Leighton Road Surgery, one of the three GP surgeries in the town. The Care 

Quality Commission has issued successive reports in 2019 describing the 

practice as “ Requires Improvement” (early 2019)  and now “Inadequate” (Autumn 

2019), but there is no public accountability involving local patients (a surgery 

Patient Participation Group has not prevented the deterioration in services).  

 

10. The Town Council had a Health Services Working Group between 2004 and 2016 

which served to bring councillors, local residents/patients and GPs into a 

conversation with the aim of securing improved health services in the town. The 

Group became de-energised in  2010 when Bedfordshire Health discarded the 

Community Hospital project and became moribund in its later years. 

 

11. An initiative is therefore needed to  

 Exert pressure on BCCG/CBC HWB to share their plans with local GPs, 

Patient Groups and Leighton Buzzard residents 

 Inject some accountability and urgency into NHS investment plans for 

Leighton Buzzard as the largest centre of population in Central Bedfordshire 

and the second largest town in Bedfordshire. NHS money is currently going 

elsewhere. 

 Create an influential conversation on which services are to be localised and 

their accommodation needs  

 Create a Town Council pressure group with the opportunity for non-councillor 

interests to have a voice. This is particularly important since a successful 

outcome will require common cause between councillors, GPs and local 

residents and so avoid a repeat of the 2012 situation on which the Community 

Hospital foundered.  

 Press for some means whereby any adverse performance of local Health 

services can be scrutinised and held to account on behalf of Leighton Buzzard 

and Linslade residents.  

 

12. This Motion provides for a creation of a Town Council sub-committee, or Task 

and Finish Group, that will serve both to press BCCG and CBC/HWB to act, and 

also provide a means of enabling local discussion on the Town’s input to the 

health localisation Plan. The desired end-objective will be the commencement of 

those locally-delivered services.  

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

1

LEIGHTON LINSLADE PARTNERSHIP COMMITTEE

05 September 2019

CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL UPDATE

Purpose of report: - for information

1 COMMUNITY SAFETY

1.1 Anti-social behaviour and Statutory Nuisance

The Community Safety Operations Team has carried out the following work in the 
Leighton-Linslade area from the February 2019 – June 2019: 

There were 43 cases open to Community Safety Operations Team:-
 Begging – 1
 Dog Barking – 1
 Dog Fouling – 2
 Fly-tipping – 5
 Graffiti – 1
 Nuisance Neighbours – 6
 Pollution/Light – 1
 Pollution/Noise – 16
 Pollution/Odour – 4
 Rowdy/Inconsiderate Behaviour – 6

1 x Fixed Penalty Notice issued and paid re. Dog Fouling
1 x Abatement Notice issued re. Dog Barking 
1 x file has been sent to Legal team regarding Breach of Criminal Behaviour Order. 

Recorded CCTV Incidents

This report contains data gathered by the Council’s CCTV Control Room located at 
Watling House, Dunstable. It includes details of CCTV monitored incidents and arrests 
by the police in the towns of Dunstable, Houghton Regis and Leighton Buzzard. It does 
not include details of the police response to any particular incident where an arrest is 
not made, nor does it include incidents not captured by CCTV; for this reason, the data 
will not reflect the overall picture of crime and disorder in any area. 

Date Time Location Type of Crime Arrests
03/02/2019 03:08 Lake Street Assault 0
03/02/2019 03:22 Lake Street Affray 0
09/02/2019 15:17 High Street Shoplifters 0
10/02/2019 13:12 High Street Shoplifters 0
16/02/2019 03:01 Lake Street Affray 0

Page 95

Agenda Item 12



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

2

19/02/2019 15:07 High Street Wanted Male 1
20/02/2019 17:18 High Street Shoplifting 0
20/02/2019 17:44 North Street Street Drinking 0
20/02/2019 22:57 High Street Breach Of CPN 0
21/02/2019 23:50 High Street Burglary 0

08/02/2019 21:05 Waterborne Walk Drugs/3males rolling and 
smoking drugs 0

02/03/2019 01:27 Lake Street Affray 0
02/03/2019 23:40 The Picture 

House
Affray 0

03/03/2019 03:03 Lake Street Affray 2
03/03/2019 13:48 Boots Shoplifting 0
08/03/2019 11:49 Superdrug Shoplifting 0

08/03/2019 13:03 Waterborne Walk Intelligence 0

08/03/2019 14:01 Train Station Vulnerable Person 0
08/03/2019 16:39 Train Station Vulnerable Person 0
09/03/2019 15:58 WH Smith Fraud 0
19/03/2019 16:55 Parsons Rec Offensive Weapon 0
20/03/2019 17:53 Parsons Rec Robbery 0
21/03/2019 19:24 Multi Storey Car 

Park
Vulnerable Person 0

30/03/2019 02:20 Lake Street Alcohol Related 0
30/03/2019 03:06 Lake Street Affray 1
01/04/2019 17:39 Poundland ASB 0
05/04/2019 14:52 High street Intelligence 0
05/04/2019 15:17 Clarks Assault 0
05/04/2019 16:45 Boots Shoplifting 0
05/04/2019 17:03 North Street Intelligence 0
06/04/2019 16:12 Peacocks ASB 0
06/04/2019 00:30 Billington Road Intelligence 0
07/04/2019 13:07 High Street Intelligence 0
09/04/2019 17:34 Waitrose Shoplifter 1
16/04/2019 21:27 High Street Intelligence 0
17/04/2019 15:10 Waterborne Walk ASB 0
18/04/2019 17:42 Waterborne Walk ASB 0
18/04/2019 18:54 Astral Park ASB 0
21/04/2019 20:28 Waitrose Attempted Break in 0

23/04/2019 17:00 Multi Storey Car 
Park ASB 0

27/04/2019 16:53 Baker Street Theft of Vehicle 0
27/04/2019 00:15 Waterborne Walk Drugs 0

28/04/2019 01:32 The Lancer Under age youths trying to 
get into the Lancer 0

01/05/2019 15:25 Parson Rec OP-METEOR 0
01/05/2019 20:47 Waterborne Walk ASB/Group of males casing 

trouble in Waitrose
0

03/05/2019 14:49 Peacocks Shoplifting 0
04/05/2019 03:09 Lake Street 

(Pizza Plus)
Affray 0

04/05/2019 02:13 Lake Street Affray 1

Page 96



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

3

05/05/2019 23:23 Lake Street Drunk and Disorderly 1
06/05/2019 17:00 Bell Alley Bicycle Theft 0
09/05/2019 15:18 Peacocks Shoplifting 1
11/05/2019 11:08 High Street Missing Person 0
13/05/2019 15:14 Parsons Rec OP-METEOR 0

13/05/2019 17:36 Wilko Shoplifting 0
13/05/2019 18:10 Parsons Rec Intelligence 0
14/05/2014 14:11 Waterborne Walk Shoplifting 1
16/05/2019 17:54 Parsons Rec Intelligence 0
17/05/2019 23:34 Swan Hotel Offensive Weapon 1
21/05/2019 19:16 High Street Intelligence 0
23/05/2019 17:14 Parsons Rec OP-METEOR 0
28/05/2019 12:16 Waterborne Walk ASB 0
30/05/2019 16:55 Waterborne Walk ASB 0

2.  Business, Investment, Employment & Skills

The Council supported the 7th annual Business Networking Event, was held at the Leighton 
Buzzard Golf Club on Wednesday 24th April with approximately 117 people attending. The 
event was well received and offered businesses the opportunity to network. 

We continue to work with businesses in the Leighton Linslade area through our business 
engagement programme.

With regards to Inward Investment enquiries, the Leighton-Linslade area continues to attract 
a range of commercial property enquiries. For the period Mar 19 – Jul 19 we have received 7 
new enquiries for the area. Four of these enquiries were for larger (10,000sq ft +) industrial / 
office premises including an inward investment enquiry for 250,000 sq ft of warehouse space 
from a large retail company.  Five of these enquiries were for local companies looking to 
relocate or expand, one for the large inward investment and remaining one for a local start up.  
During this time there were also 13 enquiries that were looking across the whole Central 
Bedfordshire Council area including Leighton Linslade.

The Crossing on the A505 is now complete offering just over 50,000sq ft of warehousing 
space. The agent has informed us that there are a number of interested parties, however all 
are waiting to see how post Oct 2019 government decisions will affect their business before 
committing to the lease.  
 

Bedfordshire Employment & Skills Service

To date this academic year, 123 Leighton-Linslade residents (87 of whom were unemployed) 
have attended Employment and Skills Service (BESS) courses which include basic skills in 
ICT, English and maths.  

The Service works with its subcontractor partners to deliver general employability 
programmes, supporting people without jobs get back into employment e.g.  “Creative 
Confidence for Work & Life”, a Hospitality Academy, “Live Smart into Work”, “Moving Towards 
Work” and “Smart Job Search”. These all cover different aspects of preparing for work, finding 
employment and the expectations of employers both at interview and on starting.  

Page 97



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

4

Other courses are aimed at specific sectors include Hospitality programmes and those aimed 
at residents wishing to work in schools and nurseries.  The YOU Programme supports people 
who are experiencing a range of mental health challenges, which can affect their mental, 
physical, social, professional, spiritual and emotional wellbeing.  Accessible venues used for 
the delivery of these programmes include the Friends Meeting House, Leighton Buzzard 
Library, Atral Park Community Centre, the Tactic Centre and the Royal British Legion.  
Courses in Bedford and Dunstable also attract Leighton-Linslade residents.

The Service also supports residents with maths, English, English for speakers of other 
languages (ESOL) and ICT.

To find out more about the courses offered please visit our website at:
https://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/info/90/adult_learning 

High Street Vacancy Levels 

According to Springboard, in collaboration with the BRC, the national town centre vacancy 
rate in April 2019 was 10.2%. The rate is now at its highest since April 2015. (BRC-
 Springboard footfall and vacancies monitor, April 2019).

On average, Town Centres in Central Bedfordshire have a vacancy rate of 5.5% (May 2019). 
This is an increase of 2% from February 2019 due to increase vacancies in Arlesey, 
Biggleswade and Shefford. The overall vacancy rate for Central Bedfordshire town centres at 
May 2019 was 7.65% (there were 928 recorded town centre units and 71 of these were 
vacant). This is an increase from the 5.36% figure recorded for February 2019. During the last 
quarter there has been an increase in the overall number of vacant units within Central 
Bedfordshire. Increase in vacant units have been seen in Biggleswade, Dunstable and 
Leighton Buzzard. 

Town Centre vacancies (%) in Central Bedfordshire, May 2017 – May 2019

 Town
May 
17

Aug 
17 Nov 17

Feb 
18

May 
18

Aug 18 Nov 18 Feb 19 May 19

Ampthill 2.2 3.3 4.4 4.4 5.6 5.6 6.7 5.6 4.4
Arlesey 0 0 0 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.7
Biggleswade 8.3 6.9 5.5 8.3 9.7 4.8 3.5 2.7 10.4
Dunstable 13.8 13.4 13.4 13.4 14.6 13.4 12.6 10.7 12.4
Flitwick 0 2.6 2.6 0 0.0 5.1 2.6 2.2 4.4
Houghton 
Regis 3.4

3.4
3.4 3.4

3.4 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Leighton 
Buzzard 3.9

4.9
3.9 3.4

4.9 4.4 3.0 3.5 4.9

Sandy 9 4.5 3 1.5 3.0 4.5 6.0 6.6 6.7
Shefford 2.5 2.5 5 0 2.6 2.6 2.7 2.6 4.9
Stotfold 0 5.6 5.6 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Average 
vacancy rate 4.3% 4.7% 4.7% 4.0% 4.4% 4.7%

3.7% 3.4% 5.5%

        Source: Central Bedfordshire Council May 2019

Page 98

https://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/info/90/adult_learning


 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

5

2.1    Place Delivery in Leighton-Linslade, Regeneration and Business

HSIS: All new shop fronts are completed aside from a small number of minor 
rectifications under snagging.
 
MTRF: The most significant remaining project to be delivered is the architectural 
lighting scheme. LLTC have reported that the project will be delivered in two stages, 
with the first installations being completed by the end of the calendar year and the 
second phase by early Spring 2020. The project as a whole must be completed by 
financial year end, at which point the MTRF programme will formally close. 

In a separate scheme, work was carried out, funded by a reallocation of MTRF 
resources, during w/c 5/8 to realign disabled spaces and install new removable 
bollards in the area of the Market Cross. The works were completed, however, there 
are some issues regarding the type of bollards used which are non-heritage 
standard. LLTC is liaising with Highways to rectify this issue.  

Future High Street Fund: Last year, the Government announced a major new 
funding programme designed to support town centres and future proof them for 
further changes to the town centre economy. 

The first round of funding is underway, with a number of schemes shortlisted at 
expression of interest stage. Detailed business cases (funded by the FHS 
programme) are now currently being developed after which a final funding decision 
on progression to delivery will be confirmed. 

The type of projects that the Government wish to support as part of the FHS fund are 
intended to be transformative in nature with between £5 and £10million of funding 
typically available to successful applicants. Whilst a schedule for round 2 has not yet 
been announced, the Council is working under the assumption that this will be early 
in 2020. Based on population, the Council is eligible to submit up to two applications. 

The Council will be liaising further with LLTC concerning the potential development 
of an application to this programme during the Autumn. 

Town centre benchmarking: Earlier this year, the Council commissioned a 
benchmarking study across all of our major town centres. The purpose of the study 
was to provide up to date evidence on how our centres are performing, set against 
other similar centres in the UK and also to providing data that can be used towards 
project development and/or external funding applications such as the Future High 
Street fund, in support of major schemes. 

This study has involved carrying out an audit of the town centre retail conditions, 
market and also car parking. A survey of both town centre users and businesses was 
also carried out with a total of 1148 responses submitted. 

The final benchmarking report is currently being prepared and we will be presenting 
its findings during September and October at a presentation to LLTC/CBC members, 
businesses and other stakeholders (date tbc). 

Page 99



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

6

Land South of the High Street 
The Head of Place Delivery and the Head of MANOP (Meeting the Accommodation 
Needs of Older People) will attend the next meeting of LLPC on 28th November.
An update will also be provided to the Town Council at their meeting on 30th 
September.

3 COMMUNITY SERVICES

3.1 Rushmere Country Park 

Education 
A busy quarter for formal education visits across the Trust and also at the park. 
313 children and young people were directly involved in education activities with the 
education team this quarter at Rushmere. The majority of visits were from KS 1 and 
2 children (approximately aged 6 – 11). 
Visits were from local schools in Leighton Linslade and Heath and Reach as well as 
from further afield. New school contacts visited from Lancot Challenger Academy in 
Dunstable and Oakwood primary school in Luton with other visits from Winslow 
school in Bucks and returning visits from Greenleas in Leighton Buzzard. Activities 
included supported nature walks, habitat comparisons, season themes and mini den 
construction.

Volunteering
Practical and Conservation volunteers continue to carry out habitat management at 
Rushmere and other sites in Leighton Buzzard and enjoyed a day out at Totternhoe 
Knolls Nature Reserve in June. Andy Fleckney, reserves manager for the WLT in 
Bedfordshire, gave a guided tour telling the  volunteers about the conservation work 
there and showed them some of the wonderful wildlife the site has. 

Volunteers, past and present, were treated to a 20th Birthday BBQ at the end of 
June. Splendid weather, a great setting, food, drink, music and interesting speeches, 
not to mention a thoughtful gift, ensured a convivial evening for all.

HLF – Project Development 
Developing bid to Heritage lottery Fund based around restoring and enhancing the 
historic and natural environment elements, and including the final identified phases 
to visitor centre infrastructure.

Shire Oak Land Purchase & Restoration Works 
The main restoration activities at Shire Oak Heath have been completed, and 
Countryside Stewardship funding secured for the next 10 years.

CBC Access Route & Car Park Improvements 
Whilst the majority of specified works have been completed and the contractors DJT 
have left site, they are due to return to complete works and make revisions.

Page 100



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

7

Countryside Sites 
Permissive Path – Southern Meadows
Contractors are currently securing the Approved in Principle (AIP) designing for the 
Bridge and identifying a work plan of installation. The new path in Grovebury Quarry 
/ Southern Meadow that connects to the newly to be installed path / bridge has had 
the seasonal vegetation cut, working towards an official open ceremony soon.

Tree Works
Future surveying and follow up tree safety works are being planned around Leighton 
Buzzard area – Tiddenfoot Waterside Park, Southern Meadows / Grovebury Quarry. 

Linslade Wood
Drainage works being worked / planned / costed – working with Friends of Linslade 
wood to establish works for this autumn

LEIGHTON BUZZARD LIBRARY (@ 27.8.2019)

Leighton Buzzard Library has been very busy over the summer with the Summer 
Reading Challenge for children and young people.  This is a fun activity that keeps 
children reading over the summer to help develop their literacy and love of reading.  
As part of the challenge there has been children’s craft events, the Lego club and 
story and rhyme time activities very week in the library.  The Summer Reading 
Challenge has proven even more popular than ever with increased numbers of 
children taking part this year compared to last.

The library has continued with other regular activities during term time prior to the 
summer break, including Storytimes and Crafty Toddlers.

Regular library activities that are targeted at adults include: One to one computer 
sessions, Family History Club, the Walking Group, Job Club, U3A Family History 
Group, Stitchers Club and the Scrapbooking Club.

An office for Registrars will be opening on the first floor of the library on Tuesday 3rd 
September.  Opening hours will be: 

Tuesdays 10am to 12:30pm and 1pm to 4:15pm
Thursdays 10am to 12:30pm and 1pm to 3:30pm

LIBRARY THEATRE

The Theatre continues to provide a varied programme of film, music, event cinema, 
comedy and live theatre.  Some of the film showings are targeted for more specific 
audiences and these include: Movies for the more mature and Leighton Babies (an 
exclusive parent/guardian screening.) 

The Theatre is celebrating it’s 40th anniversary in October with a week of films from 
1979 including: All that Jazz, Quadrophenia and the Wanderers.  We are also having 
a 1970s party night on Friday 4th October, featuring a DJ and live band.   

Page 101



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

8

We have some great live theatre with musical comedian Vikki Stone, fresh from the 
Edinburgh Fringe.  The Pantaloons are bringing Othello and for children we have 
Marty McDonald returning with Crafty the Crow.

Our film season sees favourites like Benedict Cumberbatch and Timothy Spall in 
new roles.  We are showing, amongst many others, a musical set in Luton and the 
new Almodóvar film.

The Royal Opera House have announced thirteen new broadcasts going into next 
year featuring well known favourites and world premieres.

There are many easy ways to book your favourite films, theatre performances, plus 
stand-up comedy at Leighton Buzzard Library Theatre. Visit 
https://centralbedfordshire.ticketsolve.com/shows to see what’s on and book a show.

3.5 TIDDENFOOT LEISURE CENTRE

Looking back
 
We achieved:

  In May Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre held a TRY-ATHLON CHALLENGE.  
Challenging you to give a Triathlon a TRY Complete 1k, 5k or 10k Swimming 
or Rowing, Cycling & Running during the month.

 Teamed up with Swim England to create Disney inspired Toy Story 4 Swim 
sessions for the whole family.

 Mindful Yoga was running and continuing at the centre. Focus on promoting 
positive mental and physical health.

 MOVE for women’s world cup challenge. 30 day challenge to get as many 
MOVES as possible in the gym for a chance to win a free month membership.

 Also increasing the amount of over 65 and under 16 at the leisure centre 
between the same period as last year.

 
Key highlights:

  May Day Fayre – Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre had a stall in recreation parl. 
Offering face painting, fitness challenges and even hook a duck.

 For all those who took part in LB Otters sponsored swimming event yesterday 
The LB Otters Swimming Club is a brilliant swimming club for the disabled, 
discovered in 1993 and swim Saturdays at Tiddenfoot 

 Successfully hired a new Duty Managers at the Leisure Centre.
 Crash courses are going to be running again at Tiddenfoot from February half 

term. We are also working on restructuring our Aqua Ed swimming lessons to 
reduce number sizes to give a better quality of lesson and increase the 
number of classes that are offered. This is giving us the opportunity to 
increase our capacity and also improve service.

 RLSS UK’S Drowning Prevention Week. Aqua Ed team delivered water safety 
inspired lessons to help all of our swimmers keep safe this summer.

 Ian Morton Managing Director came to site to present WOW awards to 
Christine Claggett, Martina Rosolova and Yvonne Patterson

 

Page 102

https://centralbedfordshire.ticketsolve.com/shows
https://www.facebook.com/LB-Otters-Swimming-Club-1691342481097852/?__tn__=K-R&eid=ARC6SSdJA32yBRaP826XAYoCFfmVfod3_GQOun8vF0DSTVX09-oDaQMUGVQ8HQ5hHQqE5rLJkUa_nI5c&fref=mentions&__xts__%5B0%5D=68.ARBWVS8fDijxei2Urombj8xEACiAyoaSj6yM5Nf6aezmi2lN-uZc1QZc3WijbTt7kutuNk1O8zQ24nzQHPL4JKzZ8abKsR0Do_O3RxpI89Bgp24giorcycjMzqcQKhh_NSplQvd7jfTRHgtJ9B3-fhjTYRc-i4Xn59bXuYmMryvzM8AdQQdajgLW3wy2kjjkJH4H7ULko8k3SbND8Jzk9LZ_BPAT62qyPlBy24MpQcaZb_vwUHidsxh1qvy9DVl3ad0HdX6S7zeVqUH10NPyru9kygz1Vncwry2nuMu3W_Smul4RcA0-a2kwJ6sen57_x0FZd8-p2x3wzE-WuKue8A


 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

9

Looking forward
 
We are planning:
 

 Running a lifeguard course, to have more lifeguards at the leisure centre.
 Intensive crash courses running throughout the summer.
 Stay in shape this summer challenge to get a chance to win an Apple Watch. 

  
 
Key messages:
 
‘SLL will continue to improve the health and wellbeing of its local communities by 
providing the best leisure and cultural opportunities for all.”

3.6 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY TEAM

Physical Activity Team

Xplorer – Rushmere Park  - July Summer holiday – over 70 people attended.

Active Lifestyle Referrals - 22 patients referred via the GP into exercise 

Yoga – Fridays 2pm – 3pm at Astral Park. Approx 8-10 participants per week still 
running and having consistent numbers.

Seated Exercise – continues to run at Tutor Court with a regular number of 
attendees.

Walking Football 

 Approximately 10-15 attending per week at Cedars Upper School Tuesdays 
evenings

Mental Health 

 ELFT – East London Foundation Trust has launched a programme in 
partnership with Stevenage Leisure Ltd. Mindful Yoga sessions have been 
organised to promote physical and mental wellbeing. The sessions are 
delivered by a qualified yoga instructor working alongside coaches trained in 
mental health first aid. 

 Participants are encouraged to stay after their exercise, enjoy complementary 
refreshments and speak with Trust staff who will offer advice on mental 
wellbeing and signposting to other services and support networks. 

 Mindful Yoga takes place every Wednesday at Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre in 
Mentmore Road, Leighton Buzzard. It is from 1.45pm-3.15pm.

 Swimming sessions will be available as from October. Promotion for this will 
be launched shortly.

Play sites 

Page 103



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

10

The team has completed 3 Play Area Refurbishments in Leighton Buzzard.
Leighton Buzzard - Appenine Way (enclosed play area)

We have also completed housing owned play area refurbishing the following housing 
sites play areas: 
Leighton Buzzard Meadow Way
Leighton Buzzard Nelson Road

Appenine Way (enclosed), Leighton Buzzard  - Partial Refurbishment May 2019

Waste

Looking back 

Key highlights:

As in previous years, the Council provided assistance to Town & Parish Councils 
taking part in the Great British Spring Clean 2019.  This year there were 31 events 
across Central Beds and over 300 bags of litter were collected.

Two dog bins have been installed on the Southcott Estate, Grasmere Way and the 
grassed area to the rear of Blakedown Gardens.

We provided a lot of additional cleansing ready for the Anglia in Bloom judging in 
July.

Key issues:

Dog warden patrols for dog fouling have been carried out in: Bassett Road, Billington 
Road, Churchill Road, Cotefield Drive, Gilpin Close, Kestrel Way, Roundel Drive and 
Vandyke Road.

Page 104



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

11

4. HIGHWAYS 

Highways colleagues will be attending the next meeting of LLPC to be held on 
November 28th 

4.1       Jetpatcher & Resurfacing 
 
 
Our Highways team have been out and about in the area carrying out potholes and 
resurfacing ahead of the winter. You can find out the progress of thes schemes by visiting 
the website or following us on Twitter @CBC_Highways.
 
We have also used an innovative scheme in Leighton Buzzard High Street. The Street Print 
scheme, which took place week of 19th August saw the council’s highways team use a print 
to give the effect of block paving. The new technique will make repairs and maintenance 
easier and more cost effective whilst still keeping the town centre looking nice.

 
 
4.2       Gully cleaning
 
You can keep up-to-date with the works by following us on Twitter @CBC_Highways
 
The Highways team are well ahead of this years programme of drainage works, cleaning out 
nearly 2,000 in the past month.
 
  
4.3       Report Issues Online 
 
Highways team would like to remind people to report any issues they see on the roads 
online, via their website.
 
You can report most highways problems online including [potholes, faulty streetlights, 
damaged pavements, faulty traffic lights, drainage problems, damaged signs and much 
more.
 
If you report a problem online your report will go straight to an engineer and you will also be 
given a unique tracking number so that you can keep up-to-date with your report.
 
You can report issues online by visiting www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/reportit
 

Page 105

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/reportit


 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

12

 
4.4       Winter Weather  
 
The council would like to remind people to sign up for winter weather information well in 
advanced of winter so they can find out the latest news on gritting routes, salt bins and when 
we go out gritting.
 
The Highways team will be carrying out training gritting runs in the next few weeks so If it is 
still warm and you see the gritters on the road please do not be alarmed. 

4.5 Parking enforcement

The following works in Leighton, Linslade and surrounding areas have been put 
forward for completion:

Leighton/Linslade and surrounding areas
Basset Court off Dogget Street, school markings need to be repainted. (Mary Basset Lower) 19/09/2018
Dudley Street, disabled bay needs repainting. 21/09/2018
Victoria Road, nr The Gables disabled bay - L/W sign needs to be moved to within the L/W bay 12/10/2018
High Street, Leighton Buzzard, o/s All Seasons dry cleaners - 2 additional signs for 'disabled badge holders only'
parking added to the end bays, and also road markings painted for both end bays 'Disabled' 19/11/2018
Mill Street, Leighton Buzzard, DYL and SYLs need refreshing up to house #15 20/11/2018
North St, all limited waiting bays nr Halfords side need repainting 07/12/2018
Brooklands Drive nr junction of South Street SYL needs post and sign:  No waiting 7am-7pm    (next to house #83 
South St, sign & post needs to be on Brooklands Drive) 18/12/2018
 

 

In progress:
Leighton/Linslade and surrounding areas
Stoke Road, Leighton Buzzard, limited waiting bay needs repainting 20/03/2019
Re-paint all permit bays on Mentmore Road Linslade 22/03/2019
Mentmore Road, all DYLs  need repainting 22/03/2019
Grove Road, Leighton Buzzard, o/s House 26- junction Grove place  DYLs need repainting
Grove Road, Leighton Buzzard, opposite House 43 along the wall covering entrance to rear parking opposite house
 37   DYLs need repainting
The Gables, Linslade, all SYLs need repainting 30/07/2019
 

 

Key
L/W: Limited Waiting Bay
SYL: Single Yellow Line
DYL: Double Yellow Line
D/B: Disabled Bay
O/S: outside

Page 106



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

13

From 1st March 2019 to 31st July 2019  1,168 PCN’s have been issued in Leighton 
Buzzard and 294 issued in Leighton Linslade.

2392 visits have been made to Leighton Buzzard and 922 visits have been made to 
Leighton Linslade.

5. YOUTH SUPPORT SERVICES 

The figures presented below are based on the data stored within the Youth Support Service’s 
CCIS database for young people who are currently not in education, employment or training 
(NEET) recorded at the end of June 2019. Since tracking is an on-going process, the numbers 
will fluctuate throughout the month as information is received and recorded. As young people 
are transitioning at this time of year, the June figures are the latest figures.

a) Update on NEETs within the wider Central Bedfordshire area

June Headline Figures for the whole Central Bedfordshire area

Cohort
Total number 

of young 
people

Positive 
destinations 

(EET)
NEET

destinations
16 year olds / Year 
12 2824   2724   68 (2.4%)  

17 year olds / Year 
13 2853   2673   90 (3.2%)  

Combined cohort 5677   5397   158 (2.8%)  


b) Overview for the Leighton-Linslade area compared to other local 
areas

Dunstable Houghton Regis Leighton-Linslade
Total YPs in area 791 458 871

EET 757 95.7% 422 92.1% 836 96%
NEET 24 3% 28 6.1% 25 2.9%

Unknown/Refused 10 1.3% 8 1.7% 10 1.1%

c) Characteristics of the NEET Group in the Leighton-Linslade area

d) Summary of the individual Leighton-Linslade wards

Ward
Total number of 

YPs in the Year 12-
13 cohort

Total number of 
YPs recorded as 

NEET
% of NEET
within ward

Leighton Buzzard North 300 12 4%
Leighton Buzzard South 269 8 3%
Linslade 216 3 1.4%

Page 107



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

14

Heath and Reach 86 2 2.3%
Total 871 25 2.9%

d) Summary of the Leighton-Linslade NEET cohort by age, time and their 
current status

Actual Age (Year 12 & 13) Length of Time NEET Gender
16 years old 5 Less than 3 months 1 Male 16
17 years old 14 3 - 6 months 13 Female 9
18 years old 6 6+ months 11 Other/Refused 0

e) Summary status of the Leighton-Linslade NEET cohort

Status
Seeking Employment or Training 17 (68%)

Unable to work due to ‘Personal Circumstances’ 8 (32%)

 Change of support for NEET young people

The information, advice, guidance and support services for young people who are NEET 
is coming back in house from 1st September 2019.  This will provide a clearer and more 
co-ordinated service for all young people who are NEET.  There should be minimal 
disruption to young people in the Leighton -Linslade area.

 Find your Future website

The Youth Support Service has helped develop a new website for young people aged 15 
to 30 who are looking to make their next steps in employment or education, but don’t 
know where to start.  The website offers a reliable source of information all in one place 
about opportunities available to them.  The website can be found at 
www.findyourfuture.org.uk

6 SCHOOLS

Schools for the Future 

In response to the housing growth and the demand for more school places, we are 
working closely with all schools in the area to develop a plan for the cluster that will 
ensure we have the right schools in the right places delivering the best education.
We will re-convene with all 25 schools as soon as possible in the new academic year 
to continue these discussions.
When a draft plan for the cluster is agreed we will share this with the local 
town/parish councils and the community for consultation before any decisions are 
made.

School Organisation

We continue to monitor and adjust the forecast for school places required in the 
towns as a result of planned housing developments in Leighton Buzzard and 

Page 108

http://www.findyourfuture.org.uk/


 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

15

Linslade . Our School Organisation Plan (2018 – 2023) is available on our 
website here. 
 
A need for new school places in Leighton Buzzard from housing developments to the 
west of the town resulted in the Council’s Executive giving their approval (on 5 
February 2019) for the proposed expansions of Gilbert Inglefield Academy and 
Vandyke Upper School (academy). The academies are to be expanded to provide an 
additional 2 forms of entry each from September 2020.
 
Central Bedfordshire is on the verge of significant growth over the next 15 -20 years 
as illustrated in the draft Local Plan. Our School Organisation Plan is already 
forecasting significant pupil growth over the next five years, so we are seeking to 
develop a more strategic, long term plan, namely ‘Schools for the Future’,  to map 
out how we best meet this growth in terms of school expansions, new school 
requirements or any other changes, to align our educational provision with the 
growth identified in our local plan. You can read more about the plan and follow its 
progress via the above link.
 
 
School Admissions

The results of the applications for children starting school or transferring school in 
September 2019 admission were sent to parents on 1 March (national secondary 
offer day) and 16 April (national primary offer day). 97% of pupils were offered their 
first preference Central Bedfordshire upper school and 95% of pupils were offered 
their first preference lower/primary school. 
 
Applications for school places for September 2020 open in early September 2019; 
parents of children transferring to upper school have until 31 October 2019 to make 
their application, and parents of children starting school (Reception Year) or 
transferring to middle school have until 15 January 2020 to make their application. 
Information packs will be sent to parents in the first few weeks of September.
 
7. PARTNERSHIPS AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

7.1 Community Grant Schemes

At Executive on 20 August the go-ahead was given for new grant schemes worth 
£700k designed to support local groups to meet the needs of their communities.
 
Firstly, we’re investing in a Ward Councillor Grant Scheme which will enable each of 
our 59 councillors to work with groups in their areas, to explore how relatively small 
amounts of grant funding could make a difference.
 
Whether the groups are involved in cultural, environmental, sporting or social 
projects, they will be able to apply, provided they can match fund the grant they are 
seeking by alternative means to council funding and have the endorsement of their 
Ward Councillor.
 

Page 109

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/school/organisation/place.aspx


 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

16

Each of our councillors will have access to £2,000 which they can either support 
allocating in small grants to multiple organisations, or see the money allocated in its 
entirety to a single group who have need of a larger grant. They can also work 
together across a ward to combine their grants, if that’s what is most needed.
 
Secondly, for more significant projects, a Community Assets Grant Scheme is to be 
introduced, for which groups can apply for grants of up to £25k. The funding is for 
capital projects such as contributing to roof repairs or extensions on community 
infrastructure, or buying kit such as Christmas lights or a village defibrillator.
 
Subject to some further decision-making (relating to constitutional arrangements for 
making payments) it is expected that both schemes will be launched in the autumn.
 
The third scheme under development is designed specifically to enable the council to 
work with towns and parishes across the area to help improve the cleanliness and 
tidiness of our communities.
 
From 1 October more information about the grants and how to apply for them will be 
available on our website.

7.2 Town Joint Committee Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference will be presented to the Councils General Purposes 
Committee on Monday 9th September seeking approval to amend the Constitution 
with the revised Terms of Reference. If approved the changes will be adopted by 
Council at the meeting on 26th September 

8. PUBLIC HEALTH

8.1 NHS Health Checks 

The NHS Health Check programme aims to prevent heart disease, stroke, type 2 
diabetes and kidney disease, and raise awareness of dementia, both across the 
population and within high risk and vulnerable groups.

 
GP practices continue to be the sole provider of the NHS Health Check programme; 
however, performance varies. As patients are entitled to one Health Check every five 
years, Practices have a target to invite 20% of their eligible population each year.

Across Leighton Buzzard as a whole, there have been 750 Health Check opportunities 
offered to the target residents, which represents performance of 111.6% against a 
target of 672.  However only 210 Health Checks have been delivered compared to a 
target of 249 (84.3% of target).  

Page 110



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

17

Salisbury House have offered 239 (target 152), which is 157.2% of year-to-date target.  
The Practice has delivered 128 which represents 226.6% of the target (56).  Quality is 
excellent; it currently stands at 100%.

Bassett Road Surgery have offered 113 Health Checks, which is 53.1% of their 213 
target, and have delivered 65 out of 79 (82.3% of target). Quality is good, with them 
scoring 92.8%.

Leighton Road Surgery’s target for offered is currently 307, but have delivered 398 
(this is 129.6%).  However, they have only actually delivered 17 out of 114 target 
(14.9% performance).  88.2% for quality is below target.

Grovebury Road are not currently offering or delivering Health Checks to their patients

8.2 Stop Smoking Services

Reporting of Stop Smoking Performance has moved to quarterly, with the latest end 
of quarter data relating to Q4 from 2018/19 being reported in June 2019.  

Public Health-commissioned Level 2 Stop Smoking Services are delivered in-house 
by Salisbury House GP Surgery.  CBC Specialist Level 3 Support is delivered in 
Bassett Road, and Leighton Road are just referring in to the Level 3 Service.

For 2018/19, a total of 172 smokers set a quit date through these 3 services, which 
resulted in 111 successful quits.  

Bassett Road (175%), exceeded their set quitter target for the period, with Salisbury 
House at 86% and Leighton Road 44%.

The Service was re-modelled from 1 April to offer telephone and App-based support 
routinely, to give increased accessibility, but with the availability of continued face-to-
face support for vulnerable and high-risk populations who would benefit from this 
specific intervention.

Extended treatment programmes are available to residents with a Mental Health 
diagnosis or COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder).  The Smokefree Baby 
and Me programme is also available for pregnant smokers.

Call one of our advisors free on 0800 013 0553 (press 1 for Central Bedfordshire)
Fax: 0300 300 8285
Email: stop.smoking@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
http://www.smokefreebedfordshire.org/

9. SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH AND HOUSING

The future of the Westlands Care Home for older people

Page 111

mailto:stop.smoking@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
http://www.smokefreebedfordshire.org/


 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

18

Central Bedfordshire Council wants the best possible quality of life for its residents 
and has been looking at how it can secure this both now and for future generations. 

Following approval in 2017 by the Council’s Executive to consult on the future of 
Westlands Older Persons Home, a consultation took place between 14 August 2017 
and 6 November 2017. Since then, the Council’s preferred option has changed so a 
new consultation process has started with revised consultation documents. These 
were recently sent to residents, relatives and other interested parties. At the same 
time the consultation team have been busy talking to residents, relatives and staff 
about the proposals and encouraging them to complete the consultation 
questionnaire. 

The Council’s preferred option is to design and build a new care home on the former 
police station site at Hockliffe Road in Leighton Buzzard. The new care home would 
provide good quality accommodation and have all the odern facilities residents are 
coming to expect. Alongside this, the Council is intending to establish a trading 
company which would operate the new home. The Hockliffe Road home could then 
replace the capacity at Westlands and residents could be supported to move to 
either this home or somewhere else depending on their personal preference and 
their care and support needs. 

You can find out more or to have your say about the proposals online at 
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations. The consultation is due to run until 30 
August 2019.
 
It is expected that a decision on the future of Westlands and permission to proceed 
to the next stage of development of the Hockliffe Road site will be made by the 
Council’s Executive in December 2019.

10. LICENSING AND PUBLIC PROTECTION
 
There is no further update from the Pollution Team (part of Public Protection) at this 
time.  A full update will be provided for the next report. 

11. CONSULTATIONS 

Central Bedfordshire Council Consultation activity update

Details of current and upcoming consultation activity undertaken by the Council are 
provided by the Knowledge & Insight Team. For more information about this update 
please contact ClareHarding, tel: 0300 300 6109 (ext. 76109).

Current consultations
Subject Description Start End Lead 

officer

Westlands Older 
Person’s Home

Consultation on the future of 
Westlands Older Person’s 
Home

31 May 
2019

30 Aug 
2019

Mel 
Alderton
0300 300 
4371

Page 112



 Agenda Item X
                                                                                                                          

19

Licensing Policy

Consultation on the draft 
updated Licensing policy for 
2019 to 2024

24 June 
2019

1 Sept 
2019

Margaret 
James
0300 300 
4521

Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 
consultation

Consultation on the draft and 
homelessness strategy and 
rough sleeping review

24 June 
2019

15 Sept 
2019

Charlotte 
Gurney
0300 300 
5345

Ferndale Older Person’s 
Home

Consultation on the future of 
Ferndale Older Person’s 
Home

5 July 
2019 

2 Oct 
2019

Mel 
Alderton
0300 300 
4371

Upcoming consultations
Subject Description Start End Lead 

officer

Public Space Protection 
Orders

Consultation on proposed 
public space protection 
orders – covering dog control 
orders and on-street drinking

9 Sept 
2019 

2 Dec 
2019

Lisa Scott
0300 300 
5733

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114



Document is Restricted

Page 115

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1 (2)



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	190624 Council Meeting

	8 COMMITTEE MINUTES
	190724 Planning
	190821 Planning
	190729 Policy & Finance  minutes
	190905  Partnership
	190909 G & E
	190916 Policy & Finance minutes
	Covering Report - Adverse Weather Policy
	Leighton Buzzard Market Adverse Weather Policy Appx A
	Disclaimer   Appx B
	190918  Planning

	9 END OF YEAR ACCOUNTS 2018-2019
	Leighton Linslade Town Council - AGAR 2018_19 - AUDITED
	Leighton Linslade Town Council - AGAR 2018_19 for merging
	Leighton Linslade TC Part 3 External Audit Report 18_19


	10 JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE
	APRIL 2019 JC Terms final 2.0

	11 MOTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS
	Health Services WG Motion LLTC meeting 30.9.2019

	12 REPORT FROM CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCILLORS
	16 HONOURS AND AWARDS

